

# Angel investors: Do cognitive biases in the decision basis cause less sustainable investments?

A qualitative study of the investment process to map the occurrence of cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis, as well as their consideration of environmental variables.

MARIA WAAGSNES ARNE KRISTIAN DRANGSHOLT

SUPERVISOR Sougand Golesorkhi

University of Agder, 2022 School of Business and Law Department of Strategy and Management



## Preface

The master's thesis is written as a final part of the master's program Shift Entrepreneurship under the School of Business and Law at the University of Agder. We are incredibly proud to be among the first graduating students from this master's program, where students with different academic backgrounds are put together to learn about entrepreneurship in practice. The master's thesis is the result of a good collaboration between Maria Waagsnes with specialization in *Finance*, and Arne Kristian Drangsholt with specialization in *Innovation*. The purpose of this master's thesis is to create an understanding of how cognitive biases affect angel investors' decision basis and whether this leads to less sustainable investments.

The idea for the topic of the master's thesis came as a result of the experiences and skills we acquired during the master's program. Through topics within concept development, business operations, and project management, we have learned the importance of assessing a concept's economic, environmental, and social sustainability. By establishing our own company together during the study, we have also learned to implement these values in practice. However, in meetings with various investors, we experience that the emphasis on social and environmental sustainability is somewhat inconsistent. This made us curious about the psychological and behavioral factors that influence early-stage investors' decision basis, and especially how they consider environmental sustainability in an investment case.

Writing a master's thesis has been demanding and, at times, frustrating, but the process has still been incredibly interesting and educational. We have undoubtedly acquired expertise and experience that we will benefit from further in our careers and are very proud to have contributed with new research in the field of innovation and entrepreneurship. The support from partners, family, and friends has been invaluable during this period. We would like to thank all the angel investors who contributed with experience, competence, and transparent opinions on the topic. Finally, we would like to thank our supervisor Sougand Golesorkhi for support and good, professional guidance throughout the semester.

## Place: Kristiansand

Date: 30.05.2022

## Abstract

Angel investors are an essential part of a startup's financing cycle, contributing venture capital and experience in a phase characterized by a high risk of failure. As they invest with private funds and ultimately make an independent decision to invest, we consider how rational their decision basis is by testing for cognitive biases. There is increasing pressure on investors to make sustainable investments, but numerous different guidelines make it challenging to determine their strategies. We have examined angel investors' assessment of environmental variables and their experience with sustainable investment strategies. The research aims to answer the problem statement; Do cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis cause less sustainable investments?

The study is based on a qualitative research method. After selecting a sample size based on nonprobability selection, we conducted semi-structured interviews with ten angel investors for qualitative depth. A content analysis was performed to map patterns in the data material and then presented findings that answered our research questions. We found that angel investors' decision basis is not fully rational, as various cognitive biases occur during the assessment of an investment case. Findings indicate an evident occurrence of the three cognitive biases herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias. Furthermore, we found that most angel investors did not emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis. They had limited knowledge of ESG investing, but their investment process had similarities to different ESG strategies. This suggested that they did not have a conscious relationship with their own sustainability strategy. Angel investors expressed challenges in implementing sustainable investment strategies, which indicate that they largely assess based on their own perception of sustainability. Lack of sustainability expertise proves to be a fundamental problem for why angel investors do not consider environmental variables. The research findings indicate that the angel investors' decision basis is a complex area that requires further research, particularly on additional cognitive biases and other psychological factors. Our research can help to increase angel investors' awareness of their own assessment process and provide an incentive to raise sustainability competence in the ecosystem.

**Keywords:** Angel investors, cognitive biases, decision basis, environmental variables, ESG investing

# **Table of Contents**

Preface	
Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	vi
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Scope of the Study	4
1.2 Structural Outline of the Master's Thesis	5
2. Theoretical Framework	6
2.1 Startup Financing	7
2.1.1 Seed Capital	8
2.2 Angel Investors	9
2.2.1 Angel Investor Types	
2.2.2 The Investment Process	
2.3 Behavioral Finance	
2.3.1 Development of Behavioral Finance	
2.3.2 Behavioral Finance Theory	
2.3.3 Cognitive Biases	
2.3.3.1 Herd Mentality	
2.3.3.2 Confirmation Bias	
2.3.3.3 Framing Cognitive Bias	
2.4 Sustainability	
2.4.1 Sustainability in Economics	
2.4.2 Sustainable Investing	
2.4.3 ESG Investing	
2.4.3.1 ESG Strategies	
2.4.3.2 Challenges of ESG	

2.5 Theory Summary	
3. Methodology	34
3.1 Research Design	34
3.1.1 Research Philosophy	
3.1.2 Research Type	35
3.1.3 Research Strategy	
3.1.4 Time Horizon	
3.1.5 Sampling Strategy	
3.1.6 Data Collection Method	
3.1.7 Data Analysis Method	
3.2 Methodological Limitations	41
3.2.1 Validity	42
3.2.2 Reliability	42
3.3 Summary Methodology	43
4. Results	44
4.1 Descriptive Statistics	44
4.2 Findings	47
4.2.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?	47
4.2.1.1 Herd Mentality	47
4.2.1.2 Confirmation Bias	49
4.2.1.3 Framing Cognitive Bias	
4.2.2 RQ2: How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in the	eir decision basis?
	51
4.3 Summary of Findings	53
5. Discussion	55
5.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?	55
5.1.1 Herd Mentality	57
5.1.2 Confirmation Bias	58
5.1.3 Framing Cognitive Bias	61
5.2 RQ2: How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their of	decision basis?63

	5.2.1 Importance of Environmental Variables in the Early Phase	63
	5.2.2 Lack of Competence Lead to Challenges in Implementing ESG Strategy	65
	5.2.3 Similarities Between the Investment Process and ESG Strategies	66
	5.2.4 A Reactive Approach to Sustainability	68
	5.2.5 Aspiring Toward a Proactive Approach	69
	5.3 Summary Discussion	70
6.	Conclusion	72
	6.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?	72
	6.2 RQ2: How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision bas	is?73
	6.3 Do cognitive biases in the decision basis cause less sustainable investments?	75
	6.4 Implications of the Research	75
	6.5 Limitations and Recommendations for Further Research	76
7.	References List	78
8.	Appendix	94
	8.1 Interview Guide	94

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Startup Financing Cycle	7
Figure 2. Investor Matrix	10
Figure 3. Efficient Market Hypothesis	14
Figure 4. Prospect Theory - The Value Function	17
Figure 5. The Pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility	22
Figure 6. Angel Investor Type	45
Figure 7. Years of Experience	45
Figure 8. Number of Investments	46
Figure 9. Main Industries	47

## List of Tables

40
4

## **1. Introduction**

A startup is a company in the initial stages of operations, characterized as dependent on external financing to survive the company's development process (Grant, 2021). This development process is often divided into several financing stages. The seed phase is the second phase in a startup's financing run and is known to be a critical phase where the founders have a high risk of failing. Raising capital is both time-consuming and resource excessive, and there are several ways startups can obtain funding. Research shows that global funding in the seed phase increased by 104% in 2021 (Sheth, 2022, sec. 3). Angel investors are regarded as one of the typical sources of financing in the seed phase and carry out more than three-quarters of their investments in this phase (DeGennaro & Dwyer, 2014; Forrester, 2014, p. 5). This made us curious to investigate angel investors further.

An angel investor (or business angel) is "often experienced high net-worth individuals, who invest in new or growing businesses individually or as part of a syndicate" (European Commission, 2022a). Angel investors are often the entrepreneurs' first meeting with risk capital after grants, family, and friends. In other words, an important contributor to the funding journey, stressing the importance of further research within this field. Their primary motivation for investing is often related to helping companies in the development phase, as many have developed companies in the past and have extensive experience in the field. Angel investors are usually not as preoccupied with profits as other investors and are known to have a higher risk appetite. Like any other investor, angel investors conduct assessment processes to identify the various risks associated with each investment case. Previous research finds that angel investors' decisions are influenced by rational and irrational factors such as cognitive biases and social influences (Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Fama, 1998; Forrester, 2014; Shefrin, 2002; Shleifer, 2000; Taler, 1970). Therefore, we became curious to examine which irrational factors influence angel investors' decision basis.

Traditional finance assumes that investors make rational decisions based on full access to information and a complete overview of potential outcomes (Neumann & Morgenstern, 2007). This assumption has been met with criticism from several researchers (e.g., Kahneman & Tversky, 1979), who believe that investors' decisions are not entirely rational as psychological and

behavioral factors characterize them. Based on this, behavioral finance emerged, exploring how investors' decisions are influenced by psychological, behavioral, and cognitive aspects (Forrester, 2014, p. 15). Previous research (e.g., Baker & Nofsinger, 2010; Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Miller, 1986) finds that angel investors' decision-making process seems to violate the principles of traditional finance. Angel investors often make high-risk investments characterized by information asymmetry and a small degree of due diligence, which makes them more exposed to psychological factors such as cognitive biases (Forrester, 2014, p. 42). Previous research shows that cognitive biases affect investors' decision basis, which often leads to judgment errors when making investment decisions (e.g., Barberis et al., 1998; Chaudhary, 2013; Daniel et al., 1998; Fama, 1998). However, we observe that there is limited research on how cognitive biases affect angel investors' decision basis. Our study investigates whether the decision basis of angel investors is characterized by cognitive biases, which cognitive biases occur, and what influences their occurrence. Through a qualitative method where we use semi-structured interviews, we investigate whether herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive biase influence the decision basis of angel investors. This leads us to our first research question:

#### **RQ1:** *How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?*

For decades, economists have had disagreements about how economics and sustainability should be connected (e.g., Carroll, 1991; Elkington, 2018; Friedman, 1970; Henderson, 2015). Despite prior disagreements, research by Cook et al. (2013) and others present evidence that the current climate change is artificial. In combination with several social justice issues, these climate changes have increased pressure on the business community to take a sustainable responsibility. In response to this, frameworks and guidelines such as *OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises* and *the EU taxonomy for sustainable activities* have been developed for reporting on sustainability (European Commission, 2022b; OECD, 2020, Chapter 4.4.2). The financial market takes responsibility by making greater use of sustainable investment strategies, a way of investing where the investor assesses environmental, social, and governmental factors (ESG) "before contributing money and resources to a company or venture" (Stobierski, 2021, sec. 4). ESG investing is a widely used sustainable investment strategy that addresses risks and opportunities related to an

investment's environmental, social, and governance aspects of an investment (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 14).

Although these guidelines and strategies were developed to create a sustainable change, it turns out that they may have created more confusion for investors. Investors struggle to maneuver between these, and as a result, it has become difficult for them to define their sustainability strategy. Another problem is that these guidelines are mainly created for larger companies, making it more challenging for smaller companies and early-stage investors to adapt. Previous research (e.g., OECD, 2020) indicate that investors have several challenges adapting their sustainability strategy. For example, Botsari and Lang (2020) find that about half of the angel investors in their study state that they do not believe ESG criteria are essential for investment performance and therefore choose not to use such an investment strategy. The research further finds that approximately 60% of angel investors assess ESG criteria, but only 10% view this as one of their most important investment criteria (Botsari & Lang, 2020, p. 23, 46). These findings raise the question of angel investors' relationship with their own sustainability strategy and whether they have any routines for assessing environmental variables. However, conducting a literature review on the topic resulted in few findings. Therefore, our research aims to examine angel investors' relationship to sustainable investment strategies by exploring how they take environmental variables into account in their decision-making basis. Through a qualitative method using semi-structured interviews, we will examine whether angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis and their relationship to the sustainability strategy of ESG investing. This leads us to our second research question:

#### **RQ2:** *How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis?*

By answering the two research questions presented above, we aim to be able to answer the problem of the master's thesis; do cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis lead to less sustainable investments? There is no previous research that addresses this issue, and it will be interesting to investigate how psychological factors can affect the sustainability of an investment. Potentially, this research can provide valuable insight into the work of adapting sustainability strategies to smaller companies and investors.

## 1.1 Scope of the Study

As a starting point for the master's thesis, we chose to limit research to the seed phase. As the seed round is associated with high risk, we found it interesting to investigate how angel investors assess such an investment case. We see it as natural to limit our research to angel investors as they are a central source of funding in the seed phase. We chose to conduct the research with a selection of Norwegian angel investors, and there are various reasons for this. In 2021, the number of investments in early-stage companies increased significantly, but we especially saw an increase in Norway (J. B. Jacobsen, 2022). In 2020, there were 10,000 more new establishments in Norway compared with the number of new establishments ten years earlier (Statistisk sentralbyrå, 2021). The increase in startups is mainly due to the active role that the Norwegian authorities take in facilitating for more innovation (Fybish, 2022), leading to tremendous growth in the supply of public subsidies, especially for companies focusing on sustainability.

We are also seeing an increasing trend in ESG investing in the country. Norway has had a large oil and gas industry for several decades, but trends show that public and private investors aim to avoid ESG risk (Greiner, 2020). We limit the research to examining how angel investors assess environmental variables I as we find this most interesting to evaluate their relationship to ESG investment. Finally, we limit the research to angel investors' screening process, where entrepreneurs present their investment cases to angel investors. An investment case is the entrepreneurs' presentation of their business concept to persuade investors to fund the project. In the screening phase, angel investors reject most companies, and only a few capture their interest. Therefore, it is interesting to examine what criteria the startup must meet to capture the interest of angel investors during the screening. The screening phase is usually part of due diligence, which is a process where the company's fundamentals are investigated by the investor (Chen, 2021a).

## 1.2 Structural Outline of the Master's Thesis

Chapter one provides the background and context of the study and introduces the research problem, followed by the research aims, objectives, and questions. The scope of the study is also discussed.

Chapter two provides an overview of theoretical frameworks and previous research related to the research problem. We start with an introduction to startup financing and elaborate further on angel investors before linking this to behavioral finance and cognitive biases. Finally, we consider the connection between economics and sustainability, where we take a closer look at sustainable investment strategies, better known as ESG investing.

In chapter three, the methodological framework will be presented. The research design addresses research philosophy, research type, and research strategy, followed by the time horizon of the study, sampling strategy, data collection method, and data analysis method. Finally, we consider the methodological limitations.

Chapter four presents findings related to the two research questions based on research data from the analysis. The findings provide a basis for further discussion in the next chapter. Descriptive statistics are presented at the beginning of the chapter.

In chapter five, we consider the findings and engage in a discussion related to the two research questions. First, we address cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis and discuss whether these can lead to less sustainable investments. Furthermore, we discuss angel investors' considerations of environmental variables and their relationship to sustainable investments.

Chapter six constitutes the conclusion of the master's thesis, where we summarize the study's most important findings and answer the research questions. Furthermore, we consider the implementation of the study followed by recommendations for future research.

## 2. Theoretical Framework

This chapter presents an overview of the relevant literature and theoretical framework that contributes to answering the research questions. The starting point for the thesis is to investigate whether angel investors' decision basis is affected by cognitive biases and whether this leads to less sustainable investments. We have divided the theory chapter into three parts: *Startup funding and angel investing, behavioral finance,* and *sustainable investing.* The first part deals with early-phase financing, where we introduce the startup financing cycle and define the seed capital phase. Furthermore, it explains what an angel investor is and reviews their risk profile, the different types of angel investors, and their investment process. This theory will help us further when considering behavioral finance and its relation to angel investors.

In the section on behavioral finance, we explain the underlying criticisms of traditional finance that have led to the development of behavioral finance theory. Furthermore, we consider prospect theory, a fundamental theory in behavioral finance explaining that angel investors' decision basis is also influenced by psychological factors. This leads us further into the theory of cognitive biases, which is central to our research. Here we define and exemplify the three cognitive biases herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias.

In the last part, we consider sustainable investments and start by presenting theories that address sustainability and economic growth. Furthermore, we go into sustainable investments, defining the most common risks investors experience and evaluating why climate risk has also become a factor that investors want to avoid. Next, we present the most common strategies for sustainable investment before we go into more detail about ESG, which is also a central part of our research. Here we elaborate on environmental variables and the development of ESG integration. Finally, we introduce different ESG strategies and the challenges with ESG as a strategy.

## 2.1 Startup Financing

A company in the startup phase is dependent on financing to survive in a period characterized by high risk and uncertainty. A startup is defined as a company in the initial stages of operations, founded by one or more entrepreneurs (Grant, 2021). A startup usually needs to raise funding several times during the development process. The development process is divided into different financing steps, where different financing sources categorize each phase. We take a closer look at the characteristics of these financing steps and introduce the various sources of financing. This provides an increased understanding of the financing process before we look at the seed phase and angel investors. The startup financing model visualizes a typical economic lifecycle of a startup, requiring different types of financing for the various stages (Wilson & Silva, 2013, p. 10). The curve in the model (Figure 1) illustrates the startup's average supply of capital in the various phases (Waagsnes & Haugereid, 2021, p. 13). A startup needs an overview of the types of financing that fall under the different development phases, as the startup typically obtains funding several times during its life cycle (Oranburg, 2015, p. 2).





(Adapted from «Crossing the valley of death: For tech startups in Norway», 2021, by Waagsnes & Haugereid, p. 14)

The various financing steps are categorized as *pre-seed*, *seed*, and *venture capital*. Pre-seed capital is capital raised in connection with the concept-development phase, which relates to the validation process of the product or service (Oranburg, 2015, p. 2). Typical financing in this phase is from friends, family, and "fools" (FFF) who mainly invest because they *want* the entrepreneur to succeed (Nielsen, 2017, p. 72). It is also common to obtain financing from public support and grants, where capital is granted to startups that potentially can generate value for society in the long run (Nielsen, 2017, p. 74). Seed capital is related to the phase where the startup needs funding to develop its business, product, or service, further (Oranburg, 2015, p. 2; Waagsnes & Haugereid, 2021, p. 15). A common source of capital in the seed phase is angel investors. Angel investors are private, often individual investors who usually are willing to take a higher risk than the traditional investor. Another type of funding is crowdfunding campaigns, where a larger number of investors enter with smaller sums to spread the individual risk (Nielsen, 2017, p. 33). The last phase of the startup financing cycle consists of venture capital and is related to commercialization and further scaling. Venture capital is a form of financing where venture capitalists invest in high-risk startups, aiming for a high reward in the long run (Nielsen, 2017, p. 34).

#### 2.1.1 Seed Capital

Our research is limited to the seed phase, where a startup typically has poor liquidity and the risk of failure is high (Fernando, 2021). Startups in the seed phase conventionally have a validated product or service and need seed capital (or other types of funding) to develop the business further. In the seed phase, a startup typically requires capital and operates with limited to no sales income (Oranburg, 2015, p. 2). The startup is therefore especially dependent on initial invested capital. Combining the costly development of a startup with the challenge of obtaining the first and crucial investments has led to this phase often being named "the valley of death" (Oranburg, 2015, p. 2).

Accordingly, seed investors are often willing to take high risks in their investments. Research indicates that the risk is higher in the seed phase and declines in the subsequent phases (Ruhnka & Young, 1987, p. 182). The seed phase is usually where a startup acquires its first *proper* investor. Seed capital investors are crucial for startups, as neither the public sector nor other investors want to invest during the valley of death, given the high risk of failure (Andriotto Financial Services,

2020). Botsari and Lang (2020) find that the seed stage is the most critical investment step from an angel investor's perspective (p. 15). Therefore, our research will be primarily limited to angel investors, as they are the key investors within the seed capital phase of startups.

## **2.2 Angel Investors**

An angel investor (or business angel) is defined as an individual who invests with private funds in a startup company (Forrester, 2014, p. 1). Angel investors are usually among the primary funding sources for startups, followed by venture capitalists and non-listed securities such as private equity when entering early-stage (Wiltbank et al., 2009, p. 116). Investment in startups characterized by high risk is common for this type of investor (Acs & Tarpley, 1998 and Benjamin & Margulis, 2001, as cited in Forrester 2014, p. 5). Research shows that more than three-quarters of investments made by angel investors take place in the seed phase (DeGennaro & Dwyer, 2014; Forrester, 2014, p. 5).

Angel investors are described by many as an essential driver behind a startup's business development and are often characterized as informal venture capital (Berger & Udell, 1998; Diamond, 1984; Shane, 2012). Nielsen (2017) expresses that angel investors do not expect large income streams, but typically require that the company has taken the first steps in validating the product or service, and preferably developed a prototype when they enter the seed phase (p. 106). Angel investors can expect a high-risk startup to be closer to launch if the investor has little expertise in the area themselves (Nielsen, 2017, p. 106). The investor matrix was developed by Nielsen (2017) and illustrates how investor cases with different risk profiles lead to different returns for investors (p. 20). The matrix effectively categorizes investors based on how much risk they are willing to take.

Figure 2. Investor Matrix



(Adapted from «The startup funding book», 2017, by Nielsen, p. 20)

Although angel investors are known for making high-risk, high-reward investments, the degree of risk an individual investor is willing to take will vary from case to case. Nielsen (2017) suggests that an angel investor may choose to make an investment where they believe the risk is much higher than the potential reward, as factors aside from the financial reward make the case attractive (p. 20). Therefore, angel investors can be placed within all four categories of the matrix, as the preferences vary from one individual investor to another. What makes angel investors different from other investors is that the various investments often are characterized differently (Forrester, 2014). For example, investments vary on investment amount, industry, commitment, exit strategies, et cetera. (Forrester, 2014; Osnabrugge & Robinson, 2000).

Angel investors are known to be more risk-taking as they invest in the seed phase. But why do angel investors *want* to invest? Nielsen (2017) believes there are three reasons for angel investors' desire to invest (p. 107). The first, and perhaps most logical, relates to investing for the investor's own benefit. An investor may have a desire to make money, take part in something that interests them, work with entrepreneurship, or simply invest for enjoyment. The second reason is related to

the startup's benefit. The angel investor may have been involved in entrepreneurship in the past and want to contribute with their experiences or give something back. Nielsen's (2017) third and final reason relates to the world and society's benefits from the investment. These benefits are about angel investors wanting to create a difference locally or globally, whether about health, education, climate, et cetera. Mitteness et al.'s (2012) study claims that being familiar with angel investors' different characteristics can be beneficial, not only for other investors, but also for the entrepreneurs looking for funding. "Entrepreneurs should consider how individual characteristics of investors may impact their ability to get funding." (Mitteness et al., 2012, p. 604).

### 2.2.1 Angel Investor Types

Why do angel investors make investment decisions so differently from one another? Nielsen (2017) explains that angel investors are not a homogeneous group but consist of individuals with varied preferences. He further indicates that the *desire* to invest may be the only thing angel investors have in common. Therefore, it is paramount for an entrepreneur to be aware of the different types of angel investors. Nielsen (2017) presents the following three types of angel investors:

The first type is called *business angel networks*. Investing with a network of other investors give angel investors access to more investment opportunities than they would get through their immediate network. In addition, the individual angel investor can spread their investments more efficiently across several startups through a network, as an angel investor often has limited funds (Nielsen, 2017). Another advantage of business angel networks is that several investors consider the same case. This way, it is easier to carry out a good analysis. In our research, it will be interesting to examine such networks to be able to say something about how one angel investor affects another in the investment process.

Nielsen's second type of angel investor is called *super angels*. While also being referred to as business angels, a super angel is typically someone with a high net worth who has run successful ventures and now wants to invest in new startups (Block et al., 2019; Carpentier & Suret, 2015; Nielsen, 2017). This type of angel investor often works with full-time investments or combines it with leadership roles in new startups. Due to their accumulated portfolio and reputation, super angels receive investment cases more frequently and are less dependent on investment networks.

They can often fund entire investments independently and have become an important source of funding in recent years (Block et al., 2019).

The third type of angel investor, Nielsen (2017) refers to as *new angels*. Nielsen describes new angels as individuals who do not consider themselves angel investors but are interested in entrepreneurship and investing in startups (p. 116). Typically, they have only invested in a few companies and often go in with less funding. New angels are equally important as there exist more in this investor category than the other angel investor types. This type of angel investor is most often found by an entrepreneur through their own personal network.

## 2.2.2 The Investment Process

Nielsen (2017) explains that a business angel network's typical investment process begins with a startup delivering a presentation (pitch) of the company and business idea (p. 112). Further, the investor conducts pre-screening to eliminate the cases that do not meet the given requirements before the qualified cases are forwarded for screening in the network. While the screening is often done on a multitude of different businesses, only a few are considered further (Block et al., 2019). In the next step, they present the most promising cases for their network before continuing with further investigations in a due diligence process. If the network decides to invest, one of the investors will also be selected to lead the negotiations with the company (Nielsen, 2017, p. 112).

The individual investment process has many similarities with the investment process of business angel networks; however, we find some differences. An individual angel investor often has a slightly more informal approach. The process begins with the familiarization stage, where the investor becomes familiar with the case for the first time and gets an impression of the contractors (Paul et al., 2007, p. 115). This familiarization stage typically starts with the angel investor receiving a pitch deck and then assessing whether it is interesting to take further action. The next step is the screening process, where the angel investor meets the contractors to take a new assessment of the team and conduct a new review of the business opportunity (Paul et al., 2007, p. 116). The angel investor often inquires with their investor network for a background check of the team.

Further, in the bargaining stage, due diligence is carried out, and negotiations are initiated before a potential investment ensues (Paul et al., 2007, p. 117). Research finds that angel investors spend less time on due diligence in the earlier phase of a startup because the company has insufficient financial data (Forrester, 2014, p. 77). After the investment is completed, we enter the managing stage (Paul et al., 2007, p. 117). Several angel investors are taking an active post-investment role in the company, and research shows that such involvement has led to fewer negative exits (Wiltbank et al., 2009, p. 118). Such involvement may be that the angel investor is given a board seat or an active role in the company. Finally, in the harvesting stage, the angel investor realizes the investments, and research shows that there is often no clear exit strategy (Paul et al., 2007). Our research addresses the screening process as this stage of the investment process is standard for both business angel networks and individual investors. A screening process mainly deals with assessing the entrepreneur(s), and the business opportunity presented (Paul et al., 2007, p. 116).

## **2.3 Behavioral Finance**

### 2.3.1 Development of Behavioral Finance

Behavioral finance addresses how psychological aspects affect an investor's financial decisionmaking process (Costa et al., 2018, p. 4). However, research on the decision-making process of individual investors over several decades proves to violate several of the principles of traditional finance (Baker & Nofsinger, 2010; Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Fama, 1998; Miller, 1986; Neumann & Morgenstern, 2007; Shefrin, 2002; Shiller & Jain, 2003; Statman, 1995, 1999). Therefore, we start by conducting a brief review of traditional finance to better understand behavioral finance and why this theory was introduced. Traditional finance is based on the premise that investors always behave rationally in decision-making, as they make unbiased decisions based on full access to information and complete mapping of potential outcomes (Neumann & Morgenstern, 2007).

*Modern portfolio theory* (MPT) is an emphasized theory in traditional finance, which describes optimal portfolio formation by explaining how risk and return are related (Markowitz, 1952). MPT is an investment theory that addresses how an investor maximizes their return to different levels of risk (Forrester, 2014, p. 8). The theory gives us insight into which measurements drive the choice

to invest, in other words what drives the investor's motivation to make choices for his portfolio (Elton et al., 2014). However, several academics have criticized this theory in the behavioral finance segment. For example, Sullivan (1991) argues that return on investment is not the primary motivation for one-third of angel investors. Instead, this fraction is motivated by the joy of investing in something they find interesting, where they take an active role in the process. Others argue that angel investors' motivation is related to helping create jobs for society, to be part of a local investor group, and being part of an investment network (Freear et al., 1995, pp. 85–94; MIT Entrepreneurship Center, 2000, p. 71). It is also argued that angel investors are heavily motivated by the joy of contributing to the startup process in the companies they invest in (Leonard & Swap, 2000, pp. 71–82). We can link this to Nielsen's (2017) theory of why an investor chooses to invest.



Figure 3. Efficient Market Hypothesis

(Adapted from «The Efficient Market Hypothesis: A Critical Review of the Literature», 2016, Naseer & Tariq, p. 2)

The *efficient market hypothesis* (EMH) (figure above), a classic theory in traditional finance, argues that markets are efficient because the stock market price is correctly priced and reflects all available information (Malkiel, 1989). In other words, the theory argues that the investor makes rational decisions based on fully accessible information and that they can set an unbiased estimate of the share's market price (Forrester, 2014, p. 9). We distinguish between three different forms of EMH.

The weak form argues that the price reflects all publicly available market information, i.e., it is based on historical data, which makes it impossible to beat the market (Naseer & Tariq, 2016, p. 3). The semi-strong form argues that prices vary continuously based on public information so that analysis will not be able to predict how the price will change. This hypothesis makes it difficult for an investor to achieve excess returns (Nisar & Hanif, 2011, p. 415). Finally, the strong form argues that the price is based on public and private market information, making it challenging to earn excessive returns when all investors have access to the same, complete data (Naseer & Tariq, 2016, p. 3). EMH is challenged by academics in behavioral theory who argue that markets are not rational but heavily driven by psychological factors (Lo, 2004; Malkiel & Fama, 1970; Samuelson, 1973).

*Expected utility theory* (EUT) is an important theory in traditional finance that deals with decisionmaking under risk (Forrester, 2014, p. 9). The theory argues that an individual considers the possible outcomes and arrives at an expected benefit based on the preference of outcomes (Davis et al., 1998). EUT argues that people are rational and follow the given principles. Still, Kahneman and Tversky (1979) argue that an investor's individual decision-making often conflicts with this theory. Allais (1953) introduced the *Allais paradox* and argued against the EUT. His research points out that individuals do not always make decisions that meet their desires and needs. The paradox argues that the individual often chooses safety over risk, although the riskier alternative potentially can provide the desired outcome. An analysis of the Allais paradox carried out by Kahneman and Tversky (1979) shows that the individual generally does not like risk and chooses the alternative where losses are least likely to occur. This tendency is called loss aversion. In the same article, Kahneman and Tversky introduce the *prospect theory* to critique the EUT. We return to the prospect theory in *2.3.2 Behavioral Finance Theory*.

The work of Kahneman and Tversky is seen as the starting point for the development of behavioral theory. According to Thaler (2016), the perspective of the rational homo economicus (economic man) was replaced by von Neumann and Morgenstern's (1947) view on homo sapiens with limited rationality. With an academic finance background, Richard Thaler linked economics and finance theory to prospect theory (Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Taler, 1970). Amos Tversky, Daniel Kahneman, and Richard Thaler are recognized as the founding fathers of behavioral finance as we know it today (Hammond, 2015, p. 8).

#### **2.3.2 Behavioral Finance Theory**

Behavioral finance examines how psychological, behavioral, and cognitive aspects affect investors' decision-making processes (Forrester, 2014, p. 15). Behavioral finance theories have emerged from criticism of traditional finance, which argues that the investor is rational in his decision-making. A criticism of behavioral finance is related to what Ritter (2003) refers to as "model dredging". This critique states that it is difficult to judge which psychological biases are relevant in each investment situation, which means that one has the freedom to argue with different psychological biases (Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Hirshleifer, 2001). This freedom means that behavioral finance can seem more convincing than more rational theories, as it better explains the connections in different contexts and generates a lot of implications (Hirshleifer, 2001, p. 1564). Behavioral finance is useful when examining the decision-making process of angel investors, especially in the context of financial inconsistencies in the investment process (Forrester, 2014, p. 15). Behavioral finance theory with behavioral and cognitive psychological theory (Ackert & Deaves, 2009; Ritter, 2003; Shiller & Jain, 2003). We will consider two important pillars in behavioral finance: prospect theory and *cognitive biases*.

Prospect theory presents a descriptive model of risk-taking and decision-making, arguing that the potential value of loss or gain has the most significant impact on the individual's decision, rather than the utility (Hammond, 2015, p. 1554). The theory is designed to explain the inconsistency and irrationality associated with risk-taking decision-making, responding to the expected utility theory (Forrester, 2014, p. 15). The prospect theory addresses two main functions: value and weighting. "The value of each outcome is multiplied by a decision weight" (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, p. 280). The weighting function argues that probability is not necessarily perceived objectively by the investor, which means they are not acting by the objective probabilities presented. For example, if the investor is presented with a case that has a low probability of gain, the investor tends to assess the probability of gain at 0%, and vice versa (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, pp. 282–284). The decision weight depends on the perceived probability of an investment case, which can be considerably influenced by previous experiences, including heuristics and biases (Forrester, 2014, p. 11; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979).

Figure 4. Prospect Theory - The Value Function



(Adapted from «Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk», 1979, Kahneman & Tversky, p. 279)

The value function presented above argues that investors value losses and gains differently (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, pp. 277–278). The value function presents losses and gains at each end of the horizontal axis, while the vertical axis presents perceived value. The convex function indicates that investors dislike losses more than they appreciate gains (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, p. 279). This is also known as the *loss aversion*, a psychological consideration that influences investors' decision-making in the financial market (Benartzi & Thaler, 1995, p. 73). The concave function indicates that investors prefer outcomes with less uncertainty than outcomes with higher uncertainty (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, pp. 277–279). We know this better as the *risk aversion* where investors tend to emphasize the outcomes that appear to be infallible over the outcomes that only appear to be probable (also called the certainty effect) (Allais, 1953, pp. 503–505). The point where the two axes intersect refers to an important aspect of the value function, addressing other factors affecting the degree of risk or loss aversion. Tversky and Kahneman (1979) emphasize that the investor's experience significantly affects the expected outcome of the investment. This refers

to Tversky and Kahneman's (1979) argument that an investor's decision-making will be greatly influenced by behavioral, psychological, and cognitive aspects (p. 286).

Prospect theory addresses abnormalities in human behavior that lead the investor to deviate from rational behavior in the decision process. These abnormalities are called cognitive biases, which violate the core principles of the expected utility theory (Costa et al., 2018; Forrester, 2014; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Nobel Prize Committee, 2002; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974). Tversky (1974) published the book *Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases*, where he presents cognitive biases and heuristics that affect an investor's judgment in a decision process filled with uncertainty. This area gets a lot of attention from researchers in behavioral finance.

Even if angel investors have equal access to information in the investment process, it will be perceived differently from one investor to another based on biases and heuristics (Forrester, 2014, p. 17). Biases address investors' ability to make decisions in an investment process based on cognitive factors, leading to judgment errors (Barberis et al., 1998; Daniel et al., 1998; Fama, 1998). Typical biases that can influence investor decisions are risk perception, framing, and overconfidence (Dimov et al., 2007; Mitteness et al., 2012; Peters et al., 2004). Heuristics refer to previous experiences and how to use these experiences to solve problems and learn (Forrester, 2014, p. 17). An example is "the rule of thumb", which bases a decision on experience rather than theory (Shefrin, 2002; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974). In the case of an angel investor, previous experience and accumulated expertise will help them to be focused on the most important areas (Forrester, 2014, p. 17). Dimov et al. (2007) believe that this allows them to be more efficient in their decision-making process.

#### **2.3.3 Cognitive Biases**

Researchers argue that the decision-making process of individual investors, to a great extent, is influenced by psychological, behavioral, and cognitive biases (Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Fama, 1998; Shefrin, 2002; Shleifer, 2000; Taler, 1970). Furthermore, research shows that angel investors' decision-making process seems to violate the principles of traditional finance (Forrester, 2014). Firstly, it is argued that angel investors make high-risk investments that are often characterized by high information asymmetry and a low degree of due diligence. Secondly, angel

investors make both individual investments and network investments within an industry or segment in which they are particularly interested. This means that investors' emotions, experiences, and trust in other investors play a more prominent role in decision-making.

In the financial market, psychological factors like cognitive biases affect individuals' decisionmaking (Chaudhary, 2013). These cognitive biases may hinder rational thinking and make decisions flawed by personal beliefs. The cognitive biases can be divided into different subcategories. First, we will dive deeper into three of the most common ones; *herd mentality*, *confirmation bias*, and *framing cognitive bias*. Our research will further investigate the occurrence of the three cognitive biases in angel investors' decision bias.

## 2.3.3.1 Herd Mentality

Herd behavior is arguably the most common psychological factor in altering peoples' decisionmaking process. The same factor plays a large role in market movements in the financial terrain. In 1987, Robert James Shiller from Yale University conducted a survey involving nearly 900 active investors during the Wall Street Crash of 1929, also known as *the Great Crash* (Liu et al., 2019). The results from the survey showed that two-thirds of the investors thought the psychological factors were the cause of the crash – not the economic factors.

*Herd* was at first a term used to describe behavior of animals, more specifically, the behavior of sheep that instinctively follow the rest of the flock due to their poor eyesight and lack of judgment (Liu et al., 2019, p. 559). However, it has since been discovered similar phenomena occurring among humans (Chaudhary, 2013). Chaudhary (2013) argues that herd mentality results from two main factors. Firstly, a social pressure to comply with social conformities exist, and most people want to fit in. Secondly, a common misconception claims a large group is unlikely to be wrong. After numerous research and practices, the herd effect was eventually applied to the field of behavioral science (Liu et al., 2019).

The consequences of the herd mentality are people not pursuing their own opinions and attitudes. Instead, they adapt to the behavior and actions of the majority or a larger group. In the field of finance and investment behavior, the herd effect occurs due to an individual's incomplete and insufficient information (Liu et al., 2019). The investor will then observe the surrounding stakeholders and make decisions based on these stakeholders' beliefs and inputs. Maxwell et al. (2011) argue that when an investor backs out of an investment, other investors will follow as there exists an assumption that there is underlying information causing the retreat. Similarly, the first investor offering to invest will make other investors more likely to do the same. This type of herd behavior will often have both favorable and unfavorable consequences. The unfortunate natural consequence is an investor making a subpar investment exclusively based on other peoples' opinions. Investors need the ability to think independently, calmly, and comprehensively to seize the real opportunities and achieve investment success (Liu et al., 2019). Herd behavior is an essential explanation when demonstrating how cognitive errors and emotions influence investors' decision-making (Chaudhary, 2013).

### 2.3.3.2 Confirmation Bias

"Confirmation bias is perhaps the best known and most widely accepted notion of inferential error to come out of the literature on human reasoning." (Evans, 1989, p. 41). The American psychologist and author Raymond S. Nickerson (1997) names confirmation bias as one of the top candidates when choosing a single problematic aspect of human reasoning. He even names this cognitive bias as the bias that deserves attention above all others. An important observation among philosophers and psychologists is that people find it easier to believe in a theory they would like to be true than a theory they would prefer false (Nickerson, 1997). This discovery shows that people are more likely to be susceptible to pleasant memories and thoughts compared to unpleasant ones (Nickerson, 1997). An example of confirmation bias that can occur in an investment process is an investor favoring information that adheres to their own experiences and beliefs, potentially missing out on critical details.

While confirmation biases can contribute to delusions, the development of superstitions, paranoia, and depression (Nickerson, 1997), the likelihood of exploitation might be even worse. Anyone with a slight interest in conveying unsupported claims and propaganda can spread this with claims of fortune, happiness, and a better life. In more recent research, Park et al. (2010) discovered that investors consistently gather the information that confirms their prior beliefs. This confirmation bias strengthens the investors' preexisting ideas and makes them overconfident (Park et al., 2010).

Additionally, this research discovered that confirmation bias made the investors have higher expectations about their investments when in reality, their performance decreased. A dissertation conducted by Forrester (2014) attempts to provide insight into angel investors and their characteristics. Forrester (2014) finds that rational and behavioral factors greatly influence the angel investor. His findings also indicate that experienced angel investors, unlike older angel investors, spend more time on due diligence and invest larger sums, potentially due to overconfidence.

### 2.3.3.3 Framing Cognitive Bias

Framing cognitive bias is the belief that the way a concept is presented matters and will impact the decision being made (Ritter, 2003). In the decision-making process, Kahneman and Tversky (1979) argue that individuals use positive or negative frames and choose a positively framed event over a gamble even though the two have the same value. Mental accounting is an evaluation method individuals use when valuing an event based on the expected consequences (R. Thaler, 1985; R. H. Thaler & Johnson, 1990). In investment processes, the framing cognitive bias plays an important role. It is reasonable to imagine the impact a professional and polished presentation has on an investor's first impression, and may overshadow other, essential information.

The incapability of making the expected calculations under traditional finance theory and instead relying on the heuristic and cognitive strategies found in mental accounting are typical for people faced with evaluating substantial amounts of data and decisions (Yazdipour & Howard, 2010). In other words, if someone is presented with something in two different ways, they are likely to come to different conclusions. In finance, this is significantly important when looking at investors. Most investors are frequently exposed to new and different projects and ideas. "[...] angels do not invest based on return on investment but rather on *expected* returns on investments" (DeGennaro & Dryer, 2013, as cited in Forrester, 2014). DeGennaro and Dwyer's study (2014) suggests that the framing of angel investors' returns is surrounded by a cognitive illusion.

## 2.4 Sustainability

## 2.4.1 Sustainability in Economics

Sustainability is about meeting today's consumption needs without compromising the chances that future generations will have theirs covered (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987). To develop a sustainable society there is a need for economic growth where social and environmental considerations are also considered (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987). In economics, several theories have been presented since the 1970's that deal with how economics and sustainability are connected. Milton Friedman (1970) is critical of the business community taking sustainability into account and argues that the company's primary responsibility is to maximize shareholders' returns. This is better known as shareholder theory. Friedman further argues that a company does not have sufficient competence or information to take such ethical considerations into account.





(Adjusted from «The Pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility: Toward the Moral Management of Organizational Stakeholders» 1991 Archie B. Carroll, p.42)

On the other hand, Carroll (1979) argues that financial responsibility (creating profit) lays the foundation for further pursuing sustainable considerations. She visualizes this responsibility with *the pyramid of corporate social responsibility*, where the financial responsibility is the basis for the legal, ethical, and philanthropic responsibility (Carroll, 1979, p. 42). Philanthropic responsibility is linked to contributing something positive to society. The model is part of what we refer to as corporate social responsibility (CSR), a management concept where the company addresses social responsibility at various levels. Activities related to CSR can benefit society while at the same time boosting the company's brand and internal work morale. Furthermore, Elkington (1997) presents a slightly different view of how economics and sustainability are connected. He illustrates this through *the triple bottom line*, which argues that social and environmental considerations must be emphasized equally as profit. Conducting a triple bottom line investment means to invest in a company that reports on their performance related to people, planet, and profit, more commonly known as the three P's (Slaper & Hall, 2011, p. 1). It is argued that the theory eventually has become a tool for reporting and marketing, and less a tool for changing the system (Elkington, 2018; Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 23).

Edward Freeman (2001) introduces another way of connecting sustainability and economics that criticizes Milton Friedman's shareholder theory for being of little use when the company is developing new strategies for markets that will constantly be characterized by environmental changes (p. 3). Freeman, therefore, developed the stakeholder theory in response to the shareholder theory. "The principal idea of stakeholder theory is that businesses should create value for all their stakeholders - those who can affect or be affected by the realization of an organization's purpose [...]" (Dmytriyev et al., 2021, p. 1444). A stakeholder is every individual or party who has any interest in a company's activities. Prior research shows that a CEO with a stakeholder focus, instead of an economic one, leads to increased effort and work ethic from employees and followers, as well as an overall increase in firm performance (Luque et al., 2008; Parmar et al., 2010). The stakeholder theory is supported by Porter and Kramer (2011), who argue that companies with a well-established social responsibility will achieve both social and economic profit. They believe it is related to the fact that products and services that meet social needs will increase in demand (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 13).

Crane et al. (2014) criticize Porter and Kramer's (2011) approach to sustainability and argue that it is challenging for companies to drive value creation in terms of sustainability, society, and economic profit. Similar to Elkington (1997), Crane et al. (2014) argue that the three parts must be balanced if one is to be able to integrate sustainability into the business sector in the long run. Henderson (2015) supports the importance of integrating sustainability into business but argues that this is difficult to achieve in the short term as it is challenging to predict what will be viable in the future. If sustainability is to be integrated in the short term, the business community will also have to sacrifice profits. On the other hand, Henderson (2015) emphasizes that sustainability will drive profit if presented as a long-term business strategy.

## 2.4.2 Sustainable Investing

Sustainable investing is a way of investing in which an investor assesses environmental, social, and governmental factors "before contributing money and resources to a company or venture" (Stobierski, 2021, sec. 4). Investments in companies in the early growth phase are often associated with various risk factors. In such an investment phase, the risk is defined as the uncertainty associated with the investment and the assumed probability of a negative outcome (Aven, 2011). Before considering sustainability investing, we consider the most common risks assessed by venture capitalists: *information asymmetry, human capital, market risk*, and *technological risk*.

The decision-making process can be characterized by information asymmetry, meaning that there may be an imbalance in the access to information between the angel investor and the startup (Forrester, 2014, p. 16). Research shows that information asymmetry between investors and entrepreneurs is often higher in startups (Davila et al., 2003; Gregorio & Shane, 2003). It can potentially be harmful to angel investors if the startup sits on more information and takes advantage of this (Akerlof, 1970, pp. 488–500). Information asymmetry is often affected by the team's competence and characteristics (Kaplan & Strömberg, 2004). Hsu (2013) found that strategic readiness and the founder's passion are emphasized to reduce the case of information asymmetry in an otherwise informal investment process (p. 1). Gregorio and Shane (2003) argue that information asymmetry can lead to opportunistic behavior, also referred to as moral hazard. This can occur if the team exaggerates the potential in the investor case to secure financing (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 11).

Human capital is defined as the knowledge and skills that an entire group or an individual can refer to (Becker, 1994). We distinguish between general and specific human capital. General human capital relates to education and work experience, while specific human capital relates to experience in industry and entrepreneurship (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 12). Human capital is emphasized by many as the risk with the greatest significance for investment decision-making, as this is the main difference between successful and unsuccessful companies (Tyebjee & Bruno, 1984). Studies conducted by Hall and Hofer (1993), and Zacharakis and Meyer (1998) indicate that human capital is more critical in early phase companies compared to later phases. Hsu (2013) finds that angel investors place greater emphasis on strategic readiness for funding, affective passion, and specific human capital for entrepreneurs. He further explains that entrepreneurs with more experience in working with young companies will have more realistic ambitions so that the investor considers the information they receive to be more credible. Similar to findings from Hsu (2013), Carpentier and Suret (2015) find that entrepreneurs with more experience often appear more credible and therefore present a more convincing marketing strategy. Kaplan and Strömberg (2004) find that about 60% of the investments studied were made due to the human capital in the team. This is supported by Nielsen (2017), who argues that investors' analysis of risk in a company typically has three areas in common, where the team is often considered the most significant risk factor by the investor (p. 46).

Technological risk is a central risk where the investor assesses whether it is realistic and feasible to develop the product and whether the development costs are low enough to compete with existing players in the market (Nielsen, 2017, p. 48). Kaplan and Strömberg (2004) find that technological risk is crucial for the investment decision in as much as 40% of the selected investments in research (p. 2190). Ventures that address environmental technology to solve different climate challenges have increased steadily in number, everything from small projects to large-scale initiatives on technology working to create a long-term positive impact (Wensley, 2021). The technology risk associated with these companies is higher, as many develop partially or completely new technology (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 11). Kut et al.'s (2007) research points out that technology risk is often higher in venture stocks than in acquisition funds, where teams and the market are given greater priority. Botsari and Lang (2020) find that angel investors' three most important selection

criteria for investing are related to the team, product, and the company's sustainability (2020, p. 41).

We further look at the market risk that relates to unforeseen changes in the market that can lead to reduced competitiveness and further affect market position and demand (Parhankangas & Hellström, 2007). Nielsen (2017) finds that market risk is one of the three most important risks an investor considers. Typically, the investor looks at demand, willingness to pay, market structure, et cetera. Kaplan and Strömberg (2004) found that key assessments related to market risk relate to competition, market size, barriers to entry, and reception in the market. Global research conducted by Block et al. (2019) found that angel investors are not as concerned about profitability as other investors, but that market acceptance is an important criterion for them (p. 329). What makes the research somewhat weak is that the analysis is done with the purpose of testing for predefined investment criteria from a database. Carpentier and Suret (2015) find that angel investors who are part of a business angel network place the most emphasis on market and execution risk. At business angel networks, a lot of emphasis is placed on product and market strategy, while weaknesses in the team are not necessarily as crucial. Osnabrugge and Robinson (2000) further argue that investors focus most on market risk if the company operates with specialized technology. Market risk also appears to be related to climate risk, which addresses risks related to the environment and sustainability (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 15).

Climate risk is defined as "the ambiguity about the consequences associated with climate change, climate policy and climate-related technology development" (Skancke et al., 2018). The financial market has increasingly embraced sustainable finance since the Paris agreement in 2015 (Eurosif, 2021, p. 5). To manage climate risk, investors often choose to change their investment strategy to achieve more sustainable investments. In response to the climate risk, the financial market has to a greater extent taken sustainability into account through responsible investment (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 15). ESG is a widely used investment strategy that addresses risks and opportunities related to the environmental, social, and governance aspects of an investment. A Wall Street firm found that 75% of the studied investors sought to include ESG considerations in their investments (Hill, 2020, p. 1). ESG strategy is helpful because it considers non-financial factors that would not otherwise be captured by traditional analyses (Amel-Zadeh & Serafeim, 2017; Norsif, 2017).

Along with ESG, other similar investment strategies exist and are increasing in popularity. Both *socially responsible investing* (SRI) and *impact investing* are investment strategies integrating ethical guidelines and considerations. Both strategies are often used interchangeably with ESG, but they do share some differences (Zhou, 2022). SRI involves actively selecting or eliminating investments based on specific ethical guidelines, with underlying motives ranging from personal values to conforming to the norms set by society. The goal with SRI is to generate returns without violating one's social conscience (Zhou, 2022). In impact investing, it is of utmost importance, as the name might suggest, that the investment has a positive impact on society and the environment. Investors look to help businesses that contribute to something positive that also benefits society (Zhou, 2022). In this research, we consider ESG investing, as this is an investment strategy used by an increasing number of investors. Investors have a key role in transitioning the economy towards climate neutrality (Eurosif, 2021, p. 5).

#### 2.4.3 ESG Investing

Multiple investment strategies that exist target sustainability and aim to make a positive impact on society. ESG refers to the environmental (E), social (S), and governance (G) aspects of an investment. The integration of ESG depends on which factors each investor considers significant (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018). Focus on the environment indicates that companies are working to reduce their environmental footprint (Henderson, 2015). With a consistent focus on the environment in the company's value chain, the investor looks at various factors such as energy consumption, pollution, use of resources, waste production, and more. Researchers argue that it is crucial for companies to take the environment into account to slow down climate change (Rockström et al., 2009; Sachs, 2015). A study by Cook et al. (2013) shows that 97% of the researchers surveyed agreed that climate change is man-made (p. 6). A report by the IPCC (2021) finds that climate change will increase further when global warming reaches 1.5° C within 2024 (p. 35). Over time, this will have severe consequences for both humanity and the ecosystem, and some of these consequences are too late to avoid (IPCC, 2021). In addition to these consequences, companies will also come across several challenges if they do not consider the environment. These companies will lose competitiveness and thus profitability in a world where societies are putting increasing pressure on companies to take environmental considerations into account (Henderson, 2015; Stern, 2008). To prevent further climate change, it is also important that investors consider

the environment as a risk in their management and set requirements for the companies by integrating ESG in their management (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 15). Norrestad (2021) finds that most investors worldwide believe that climate risk is the most relevant ESG factor. Therefore, our research aims to examine the angel investors' consideration of environmental variables of ESG.

The social aspect (S) is about the company's consideration of human rights, health, the environment, and relationships with all stakeholders around the company (Norsif, 2017). These are typically workers, shareholders, communities, and more. Research argues that socially responsible activities can increase a company's productivity and profits (Baron, 2008; Besley & Ghatak, 2007). Governance (G) addresses the company's governance and accountability (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 16). This involves an assessment of management, the company's transparency, the board's independence, management compensation, conflicts of interest, and shareholder rights (Zhou, 2022). There is usually more publicly available information on governance compared to the other ESG factors (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 17).

ESG integration includes a vast range of factors that can impact an investor's decision, but in the end, the main objective of an ESG valuation remains financial performance (Zhou, 2022). Investors use an ESG investment approach to assess non-financial information, make investments that lead to long-term value, and adapt their portfolios to societal values (OECD, 2020, Chapter 1.1). Hartzmark and Sussman (2019) find that investors who integrate the ESG strategy do better in long-term equity. ESG investments are most used among *institutional* investors, where investors mainly use the ESG factors in their decision-making process (OECD, 2020, Chapter 4.1). Institutional investors are a "company or organization that invests money on behalf of other people" (Chen, 2021b, sec. 1). Research finds that ESG integration enables investors to better predict the company's profitability (Hartzmark & Sussman, 2019). Research by USSIF (2014) further shows that 80% integrate ESG strategy based on customer and market demand (p. 15). Brown and Deegan (1998) also point out that society and media put pressure on investors to integrate ESG to a greater extent.

In recent years, the inclusion of ESG investments has increased drastically. In 2018, ESG was the fastest-growing investment strategy in Europe, and this year alone, ESG integration had grown by

27% (Eurosif, 2018). In particular, there was a change in 2021 when witnessing man-made climate change as well as a number of social justice issues (Kerber & Jessop, 2021). In a short time, considering ESG factors in investments has become something investors "can no longer afford to ignore" (Financial Times, 2021). According to Kishan (2022), "money held in sustainable mutual funds and ESG-focused exchange-traded funds rose globally by 53%" in 2021 (sec. 3). As a result, several investors now want to invest in companies with a high value on ESG factors at the same time as they receive a decent return on investment, referred to as "doing well while doing good" (Hill, 2020, p. 5).

Venture capital plays a crucial role in shaping the companies of the future. Sandberg and Flatland (2021) find that private investors relate differently to ethical investments, but most have noticed increased pressure around sustainable investments in recent years. During 2021, global funding in the seed phase increased by 104% (Sheth, 2022, sec. 3). As angel investors are usually among the primary sources of funding for a startup that often takes active ownership in the company, this suggests that these also significantly impact the future development of leading companies and cutting-edge technology. Nevertheless, several reports show that venture companies are lagging in incorporating ESG into the investment process (Sheth, 2022). It is believed that the reasons for this are that venture companies' exclusive focus is on scaling companies to create rapid growth and returns, as well as little pressure on them from society. Wiltbank et al. (2009) state that early-stage capital is not only significant as a financial resource in startup companies but also in shaping "the ventures' managerial and strategic destiny" (p. 1). In the future, it will therefore be crucial that early-stage investors incorporate ESG considerations in their investment strategy. Based on these findings, we are curious to examine angel investors' knowledge of ESG and the use of ESG in their decision-making process. We further use ESG investment as a base to investigate whether environmental variables influence the decision basis of angel investors.
#### **2.4.3.1 ESG Strategies**

Various strategies are used to integrate ESG into investments. The first step is often exclusion or divestment, where the investor sells out of or omits to consider investments in industries that are not considered ESG investments. Furthermore, the investor typically conducts a screening of new investment opportunities where ESG factors are assessed using an internally or externally prepared scale. Negative screening is an ESG strategy in which the investor, based on a specific ESG criterion, excludes certain companies, sectors, or practices from their portfolio (Amel-Zadeh & Serafeim, 2018, p. 94). This strategy is seen as the least beneficial ESG strategy, as it has historically had the least positive impact on returns (Amel-Zadeh & Serafeim, 2018, p. 88). Maxwell et al. (2011) find that angel investors do not follow a specific decision model but rather a shortcut decision-making heuristic known as *elimination-by-aspects*, first discussed by Tversky (1972). Tversky explains this as a method of making decisions where alternatives are eliminated if it does not meet the emphasized criteria. This is to simplify the screening/selection process to reduce the cases to a more manageable size. From this, we can draw similarities to the negative screening strategy. Furthermore, positive screening is an ESG strategy where the investor selects the companies that also make a positive contribution to the environment and society based on defined ESG criteria and analysis (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 24). Botsari and Lang (2020) find that 62% of angel investors in their research use positive screening to assess ESG (p. 23).

Several investors use a *best-in-class* approach to invest in the companies that score best on selected criteria (for example, carbon footprint) (OECD, 2020, Chapter 4.3.1). This strategy is often combined with positive screening (Sandberg & Flatland, 2021, p. 24). Active ownership, as well as thematic ESG focus, is also widely used among institutional investors. Thematic investing is an ESG strategy where the investor invests according to a theme defined by various ESG factors (Amel-Zadeh & Serafeim, 2017, p. 94). Active ownership means that the investor is actively involved in the company through its shareholder position to influence company behavior to comply with ESG values (Amel-Zadeh & Serafeim, 2017, p. 94). Forrester (2014) finds that angel investors are largely involved in post-investment activity by taking active ownership, especially more experienced angels.

#### 2.4.3.2 Challenges of ESG

Several different international standards are being used as a starting point for reviewing ESG investments. These include *the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the International Labor Organization, the United Nations Global Compact, the International Organization for Standardization, the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment, the Sustainability Accounting Standard Board*, and many more (OECD, 2020, Chapter 4.4.2). The European Union has recently developed a sustainable finance taxonomy to help companies map sustainable business activities to lead to more sustainable investments (European Commission, 2022b). In addition to this, there are countless other guidelines and standards an investor can use to make ESG investments and take ESG factors into account in their decision-making process. Today, no global standard for measuring ethical and sustainability factors exists. There are significant challenges associated with this, as there are so many different guidelines and proposed standards that both investors and companies have trouble navigating among them:

A significant number of frameworks and voluntary standards already exist for ESG reporting, even running into the hundreds. But in fact, this is part of the problem. There are so many that it can be hard for some preparers to know which one to follow. (KPMG, 2022, section 3)

OECD (2020) finds that investors express concern about "the lack of transparency and global standards for data disclosure and analysis" (p. 110). Investors also believe that the ESG data presented by the companies is inconsistent and incomplete. As institutional investors manage other people's money, it is essential for them to have access to coherent and comparable information (OECD, 2020). It is not just the lack of transparency from the company that is problematic. Companies often experience difficulties defining their own ESG goals, carrying out measurements on these, and reporting on the company's ESG performance (Hill, 2020, p. 4). It has also become increasingly important for financial institutions to consider ESG factors (KPMG, 2022). However, all these different frameworks are usually not directly comparable. As a result, this multiplicity makes it challenging for businesses to take an objective view. Greenwashing is also a challenge related to ESG reporting. As ESG reporting is not standardized or regulated in large parts of the world, the varying reporting quality will increase the risk of greenwashing (Lokuwaduge & Silva,

2022, p. 152). Siddique and Sciulli (2018) find that 52% of the investors examined in their research failed to choose a dominant pro-environmental or pro-financial strategy (p. 1). This is related to the fact that such a decision is complex and needs assessment in several areas. Siddique and Sciulli (2018) express that their findings support that investors prefer small companies with limited resources focusing on following existing regulations rather than taking on pro-sustainability initiatives (p. 1258).

A research and market analysis prepared by Botsari and Lang (2020) for the European Investment Fund examines ESG assessments within investment decisions of venture capitalists and angel investors. Botsari and Lang (2020) find that approximately 60% of angel investors assess ESG in their investment decision (p. 23). On the other hand, only 10% of angel investors state ESG considerations among their three most important selection criteria (Botsari & Lang, 2020, p. 46). Furthermore, approximately 48% of angel investors state that they do not believe ESG criteria are essential for investment performance (Botsari & Lang, 2020, p. 19). This is the main reason they choose not to use ESG criteria in their decision-making process.

## 2.5 Theory Summary

This chapter has addressed the importance of angel investors in the early phases of a company's life. Angel investors are essential to many young companies' success and growth, bringing knowledge, capital, and resources to the table. Known for their risk-taking, these investors are crucial to the ecosystem of startups. Not only do they provide new opportunities for existing ventures, but they also help lower the threshold for establishing new ideas and businesses. In addition, angel investors are known for contributing to high-risk cases, entering when a company is most vulnerable. Many theories exist explaining why angel investors take on this risk, ranging from contributing something positive to the world and society, to more egocentric benefits.

The traditional finance theory argues that investors always act rationally when deciding to invest. While the investors may not know it themselves, traditional finance explains that they are subconsciously implementing different strategies and investment theories to help maximize their returns and performance. Over time, behavioral finance has shed some new light on what influences angel investors' decisions, examining the psychological, behavioral, and cognitive aspects of their decision-making process. Behavioral finance emerged as a criticism of traditional finance and argued that an investor's decision-making is flawed and influenced by irrationality and cognitive biases. Several researchers support that cognitive biases are susceptible to hinder rational thinking and affect investors in their decision-making.

Having never been as relevant as now, sustainability is a crucial factor impacting every aspect of society. The connection between economics and sustainability has been debated for decades. Despite the disagreements, researchers find that it has become increasingly important to look at economics in the context of sustainability. Research shows increased pressure from the market, media, and society as a result of man-made climate change. This has led investors to change their investment strategies toward achieving more sustainable investments. Research indicates that angel investors will play a key role in shaping the companies of the future. In recent years, we have seen a significant increase in seed investments globally, but venture capitalists are lagging on ESG considerations. Although there are increasing demands for sustainability reporting, companies and investors find it challenging to assess this non-financial information. ESG is the most integrated framework for assessing non-financial information, which enables investors to better predict the company's profitability, according to research. Compared to traditional risk analysis, ESG risk has become increasingly crucial to the company's long-term survival.

## 3. Methodology

In this research, we study the investment process of angel investors to investigate if cognitive biases affect the decision basis and whether this leads to less sustainable investments. The research aims to examine the decision basis related to seed investments made by angel investors and whether cognitive biases influence it. In addition, we aim to investigate whether environmental variables are considered a fundamental part of the decision basis of angel investors.

This chapter describes which methods have been used to answer the research questions and why they are suitable for the research. The chapter starts with describing research design, where we go through research philosophy, research type, and research strategy before elaborating on the time horizon, sampling strategy, data collection method, and data analysis method. We also reflect on the methodological weaknesses of the research. Finally, we summarize the methodology chapter in a concluding summary.

## **3.1 Research Design**

#### **3.1.1 Research Philosophy**

Ontology is a philosophical study about how reality is perceived (Bryman, 2012, p. 32). Our research is based on subjectivism, also called constructionism. This is an ontological position that "claims that social phenomena and their meanings are continuously achieved by social actors" (Bryman, 2012, p. 34). To put it another way, subjectivism claims that it is the social actors who create social phenomena through their perceptions and actions. Epistemology is about what is perceived as knowledge and how we understand this knowledge (Bryman, 2012, p. 27). Our research is based on the notion that knowledge is acquired by interpreting reality to discover the underlying meaning.

Based on assessments related to ontology and epistemology, we have found that interpretivism dominates our research. Interpretivism is a research philosophy claiming that reality and knowledge are interpreted by human beings (Bryman, 2012, p. 28). This indicates that the social world must be interpreted from the perspective of the informants being studied (Bryman, 2012, p.

399). Bryman further explains that this is best done through face-to-face interaction with the informants, studying their thoughts and perceptions to obtain the social knowledge you are looking for. Through analysis, the meaning of the findings is revealed at the same time as it shows how they are linked together to generate observable outcomes (Bryman, 2012, p. 30). Interpretivism thus focuses on a specific selection where the researcher aims to understand thoughts and actions to explain a social phenomenon. The researcher has an interactive relationship with his subjects, often through interviews. Meanings usually emerge towards the end of the research when taking an interpretive approach (Dudovskiy, n.d.).

#### 3.1.2 Research Type

We often distinguish whether the research is based on a predetermined theory (deductive method), or whether the theory is an outcome of the research that is conducted (inductive method). This says something about how the theory is presented in relation to the research. In this master's thesis, the relationship between theory and research has an inductive approach. An inductive method presents the theory as a result of the observations made in the research process (Bryman, 2012, p. 26). In other words, the theory presented is based on observed patterns from the collected data.

A research method reflects what kind of research strategies should be used when it comes to data collection and analysis techniques. We distinguish between quantitative, qualitative, and mixed research methods (Bryman, 2012, pp. 35–37). Alasuutari et al. (2008) explain that the choice of research strategy depends on the availability of related research-based knowledge. In this master's thesis, a qualitative research method was used as it was considered the best fit to answer our research questions. A qualitative research method differs from a quantitative research method in that it emphasizes words and perceptions, rather than measurable numbers and statistics (Bryman, 2012, p. 36). A qualitative research method is appropriate to use when researching more complex phenomena that provide precise solutions (Beech, 2015, p. 33). Our research on angel investors aimed to find connections that could explain cognitive biases in the investment process, as well as their perception of sustainable investments in new ventures. Using a qualitative method, we were able to map a repetitive pattern that could provide answers to our research questions by studying the informant's thoughts, perceptions, ideas, and assumptions.

#### **3.1.3 Research Strategy**

In this thesis, we have gathered data from carefully and purposely chosen subjects and analyzed this data and measured the correlation between the answers and our predefined research questions. Building on the principles of interpretivism, we have used the hermeneutic-phenomenological tradition when analyzing our data (Bryman, 2012, p. 31). According to Jacobsen (2015), this method fits well with our approach in collecting and analyzing data. The intention of the hermeneutic-phenomenological approach is to extract the real, individual perspectives on reality, in lieu of concluding with an overall and general interpretation (D. I. Jacobsen, 2015, pp. 27–28). The term *hermeneutic* stems from a Greek verb and means "to interpret" (Guillen, 2019, p. 220). Guillen (2019) explains the term as follows: "[...] the hermeneutics is in the search to understand the other, not only through conversation, but also in what is behind of what is not said." (p. 220). In other words, hermeneutics is an approach that aims to discover the underlying meaning and to read between the lines. When gathering our data, it is crucial that we can comprehend the *true* meaning of what our subjects are bringing to the table.

Phenomenology, on the other hand, stems from the word phenomenon, and this philosophical method focuses on finding the subjective opinions and understandings that occur during the subject's own experiences (Guillen, 2019, p. 219). Bryman (2012) describes phenomenology as «a philosophy that is concerned with the question of how individuals make sense of the world around them and how in particular the philosopher should bracket out preconceptions in his or her grasp of that world." (p. 30).

#### 3.1.4 Time Horizon

Our study will be conducted with a cross-sectional method, ergo the data will be collected over a short period of time. This ensures the data from our subjects are easily controllable, as data collected within a larger timeframe might not be as representative. An example of this is the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic; if some data were gathered before the pandemic and some after, it is natural to assume a significant difference in the results. To inspect how sustainability and the *green shift* has influenced the investments from angel investors, it is reasonable to imagine a tremendous change just in the last decade. Taking our subject's own memories and experiences into

consideration will be a big part of this analysis. However, to analyze how this change has impacted the investment industry, prior literature on the matter is necessary to make an adequate assumption and conclusion.

#### **3.1.5 Sampling Strategy**

Our subjects are carefully chosen to fit our criteria and are chosen through non-probability sampling. More specifically, we are gathering data from angel investors, so naturally, the sampling is also non-randomized. We have chosen to limit our sample unit to Norwegian angel investors, as Norwegian authorities are facilitating and stimulating for new startups and innovation, especially for ventures focusing on sustainability (Fybish, 2022). In 2021, Norway also experienced a significant growth in early-stage investments (J. B. Jacobsen, 2022). The subjects are gathered through Shifter's (2022) investor database, a comprehensive list of Norwegian investors. This database includes the phases the investors are investing in, the amount they are usually investing as well as contact information and relevant links to their social platforms and websites. Using this database, we contacted various early-phase investors, while being aware of contacting people from different parts of Norway, as well as different genders. While our target group is narrow, we wanted to mix our informants to the degree we deemed possible to eliminate similar biases that could occur. Our sample consisted of angel investors either categorized as super angels or as part of business angel networks (explained in chapter 2.2.1 Angel Investor Types). We did not include new angels as part of the selection, as they themselves are not aware that they are angel investors and would be difficult to find.

#### 3.1.6 Data Collection Method

A qualitative study does not measure reality as something absolute or objective and needs to be interpreted and analyzed to extract the underlying meaning and context. Our own thoughts and experiences will also impact how the data is extracted, as acting in a completely objective manner could be challenging. Therefore, it is necessary that we conduct a thorough and concise data analysis with a combinatory approach, using our own experiences together with existing literature.

Primary data were collected through semi-structured interviews with ten different angel investors with relevant experience. Prior to the start of the project, we applied to the *Norwegian Center for Research Data* (NSD) due to the storage of email correspondence, audio recordings from interviews, and transcripts during the project. The project was approved, and we started to carry out the research. After taking a sample from the investor database, we contacted each angel investor via email, where we introduced them to the topic of the master's thesis and what it would mean for them to participate in the interview. Those who agreed to be interviewed were sent a link where they could choose a time that suited them. The interviewes had a great variation in their number of investments, how long they have been investing, and their preferred business cases. Each interview lasted approximately 30 minutes. Audio recordings were made during the interviews, allowing us to be fully present before conducting the transcriptions afterwards. Before each interview began, the interviewee needed to consent before the audio recording was initiated.

The purpose of these interviews is to answer our research questions and compare the gathered data with prior studies and literature. Prior to the interview, a comprehensive interview guide was made (see 8.1 Interview Guide), which was later used during every interview. Most of the questions were open questions with the intention of getting the interviewees to elaborate on their answers and speak freely. The interview started with a short introduction before we started the interview based on the interview guide. Follow-up questions were asked if relevant, to ensure understanding of what was being said. If there was a further need to ensure that we understood what was being said, we chose to summarize our perception of what they had answered to get a confirmation that we had understood them correctly. Finally, we asked if there was anything they wanted to comment on or add.

All the interviews were conducted anonymously, and the interviewees were reminded of this fact before the interviews started. By conducting the interviews anonymously, the intention was to get the most transparent and honest answers on the topic. Many of our subjects are also recognized in the investment community, so anonymous interviews would make it easier for them to reflect on their own weaknesses without concern for their reputation.

#### 3.1.7 Data Analysis Method

After the data has been obtained through a semi-structured interview, the next step in the research process is to analyze the data. In a qualitative research method, it is crucial to choose the right analysis method to arrive at findings that are important for answering the research questions. In this master's thesis, we chose to analyze collected data using *content analysis*. Content analysis is widely used in qualitative methods and aims to analyze recorded human artifacts (Crosley, 2021). Such an analysis uses various techniques to distinguish findings by "objectively, and systematically identifying specified properties of messages" (Bryman, 2012, p. 289). In other words, content analysis is a tool for mapping the occurrence of words and themes in a given qualitative dataset.

When conducting a content analysis, we distinguish between *explicit* and *implicit data*. Explicit data consists of what the informant has said, while implicit data goes deeper into the interpretation of what has been said. We performed a proximity analysis as this method was best suited to answer the research questions. This is a form of content analysis where patterns in a data set are mapped through themes and codes so that one can further find meaning and extract these findings (Crosley, 2021). This method of analysis was particularly suitable for this type of research, as it helped us map which patterns were repeated for each individual angel investor.

The interview guide was developed based on relevant theory and professional literature. Therefore, the interview had a somewhat structured starting point. The transcripts contained large amounts of information, which made it necessary to reduce the data material and map patterns through proximity analysis. The data analysis was performed manually, as the assessed data set was too small and unsuitable for measuring with analysis programs. After the ten interviews were completed and transcribed, we read through all the data material to make comparisons and get an overall impression. To limit the amount of data, we performed a joint review of the answers to each question from the interview guide, where we highlighted what was common to the interviewees, as well as insightful quotes that addressed the issue. We collected this in a separate document to create a common overview of what the informants had answered on the same topics and questions.

Next, we defined codes to group quotes and similarities that addressed different issues. When coding was completed, these were further divided into themes that were based on our research

questions. We chose not to prepare a data matrix, as the amount of information from the ten interviews was still relatively extensive. After the amount of data had been reduced through coding and themes, the important work of looking for trends and mapping patterns began. This was reviewed jointly so that we could discuss and share perceptions and perspectives with each other. The patterns that were discovered are presented as findings in the results chapter below.

Theme 1	Investment process
Code 1.1	Background information
Code 1.2	Investment process
Code 1.3	Most important investment criteria
Theme 2	Cognitive biases
Code 2.1	Herd Mentality
Code 2.2	Confirmation bias
Code 2.3	Framing cognitive bias
Theme 3	Sustainable investments
Code 3.1	Sustainable investing
Code 3.2	Social responsibility
Code 3.3	Environmental considerations
Code 3.4	ESG

Table 1. Codes and Themes of the Data Material

#### **3.2 Methodological Limitations**

No methodologies are perfectly constructed; therefore, it is significant to show transparency and reflect on the possible limitations of the research design (Crossley, 2021). A limitation of the research is related to access to information. As students, we have limited experience in conducting research, potentially causing difficulties in gathering relevant and sufficient information. We have carried out a thorough analysis of available information based on what we deem natural to assess and believe will impact the research. Another limitation relates to time. The research constitutes a master's thesis prepared during a spring semester. It is therefore conceivable that this time limit may affect the research results. The researchers have adapted the research design and defined delimitations; hence it should be possible to prepare good research during this period.

Another limitation that is important to consider is sample size and representativeness. In the research process, it has not been problematic to make a sample. On the other hand, it must be considered whether the sample was a good representation of angel investors or not. Through access to investor databases and background checks of each individual angel investor, the researchers have, to the best of their ability, tried to take a sample that represents an average angel investor. Furthermore, we must consider methodological limitations. The use of a qualitative method gives a small sample size and can potentially give unusable results. Therefore, it must be considered whether a larger sample size could be conducted through quantitative analysis, resulting in a more comprehensive dataset. Nevertheless, a qualitative method provided the opportunity to explore deeper and provided a different understanding of the phenomenon than a quantitative method. Therefore, the qualitative approach was best suited to answer the research questions.

Finally, an assessment must be made of the limitations of the researchers. These already have limited experience with research, and it must be considered whether a lack of skills may have led to limitations in the data obtained. On the other hand, through their master's program and the establishment of their own company, the researchers have acquired a lot of expertise in the financing process for startups or different types of investors. Thus, they have a lot of knowledge about the topic being studied. Researcher biases must also be considered, as they can affect how the researcher analyzes the data obtained. To avoid limitations related to experience, the researchers have used a good supervisor and consulted with the university's research environment.

When it comes to research biases, the researchers have studied literature on this topic to have a conscious relationship with how this can affect research.

#### 3.2.1 Validity

Validity in research is about relevance. In qualitative research, validity is mainly about verifiability, credibility, and transfer value (Larsen, 2017, p. 93). An important assessment of verifiability is whether we have collected data that was relevant to the problem so that the findings we have arrived at are valid (Larsen, 2017, p. 93). This means whether we ask relevant questions that contribute to answering the research questions. Larsen (2017) further explains that a qualitative study aims to both describe and interpret the data and that credibility is linked to whether the interpretations are credible and represent reality. Transferability is about whether the research findings can be transferred to other groups.

The three concepts of verifiability, credibility, and transferability are further linked to internal and external validity (Grønmo, 2016, p. 254). Larsen (2017) explains that internal validity addresses the research findings and whether these have a connection with the theoretical framework and methods used (p. 94). The preparation of the interview guide was based on the theoretical framework. The internal validity of this research is therefore considered high, as it led to relevant empirical data that provided answers to the research questions. External validity is about whether the findings have a transfer value. In other words, it is about whether the findings can be used to explain other social contexts (Krumsvik, 2013, p. 254). The external validity of the research also limits the preconditions for drawing generalizing conclusions from the findings.

#### 3.2.2 Reliability

Reliability refers to the reliability of the interviews that are conducted and the accuracy that underlies the process (Larsen, 2017, p. 94). In qualitative research, it is not as easy to ensure reliability as the findings are largely based on the researcher's perceptions and interpretations. To ensure that the research is credible, the researcher must ensure that the data collection is systematic and in accordance with the assumptions (Grønmo, 2016, p. 249). Transparency is important to

ensure reliability. Silverman (2011, p. 360) explains that transparency is about sufficiently describing collection methods, methods of analysis, and theoretical work so that the reader gets an insight into the process. To strengthen the reliability of the research, the researchers consciously choose to conduct the interviews together and ensure accurate processing of the collected data.

Reliability is also related to whether data from informants represent reality. It is conceivable that the informants want to present themselves in a good light and answer the questions with this in mind. To strengthen the reliability, the researchers have defined clear interview questions that are simple and understandable. It was also important for the quality of the research that the questions were not leading, meaning that the informants did not understand the purpose behind the questions that were asked. The researchers had no perception that the informants understood the real purpose behind the questions and considered the collected data very insightful and genuine. The answers were perceived as honest, and the informants did not seem concerned with presenting themselves differently.

#### **3.3 Summary Methodology**

In summary, this chapter presents and reviews the methods used to answer the research questions. The research was based on the research philosophy interpretivism, which claims that human interpretations constitute reality. Furthermore, the research was based on an inductive approach that assumes the theory is an outcome of the research. Based on these assessments, the qualitative method was considered the best fit for our research. We used the hermeneutic-phenomenological tradition when analyzing our data and chose a cross-sectional time horizon due to the limited time and purpose of the research.

We also took the non-probability selection as our starting point as our sampling strategy, as this was considered appropriate to answer the research questions. To gain more depth in data collection, we chose to conduct semi-structured interviews. Furthermore, we performed content analysis to map patterns that could provide answers to our research questions. Finally, we reflected on the limitations of the methodology, as well as the validity and reliability of the research.

## 4. Results

In the results chapter, we present findings related to the various topics from the data analysis. The data from the semi-structured interviews help us answer our research questions. These findings will help us answer whether the angel investor's decision is affected by cognitive biases and whether this further leads to less sustainable investments. In addition, the findings will answer whether the decision basis is characterized by herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias, as well as angel investors' assessment of environmental variables and ESG risk. The chapter provides descriptive statistics on the samples that participated in the interview to give an impression of the individuals we interviewed. Furthermore, we present findings and data that support these. Finally, we present a summary of the main findings from the results chapter, which lays the foundation for the discussion chapter.

## **4.1 Descriptive Statistics**

**Angel investor type.** As mentioned in the method chapter, the sample consisted of Norwegian angel investors who operate in business angel networks or as super angels. Among the interviewees, 40% were within the angel investor type called business angel networks, and 30% were within the angel investor type called super angels. The remaining 30% combined these two types (investing both alone and in networks).

## Figure 6. Angel Investor Type



**Years of experience.** The angel investors we have interviewed have different amounts of experience. The figure below shows that 40% of the interviewees have 1 to 5 years of experience. The remainder is divided into 20% with 5 to 10 years of experience, 20% with 10 to 20 years of experience, and 20% with 20 or more years of experience. We see from this that the interviewees had varied experiences as angel investors.



#### Figure 7. Years of Experience

**Number of investments.** Most of the interviewees (60%) have made between 20 and 30 investments as angel investors. Furthermore, 20% of the angel investors have made between 5 and 10 investments, and the remaining 20% have made over 30. Overall, the sample represents a wide variety of experiences with angel investments.



#### Figure 8. Number of Investments

**Main industry.** Furthermore, we found that the informants mainly invested as sector agnostic (60%). The remaining 40% had technology as their primary industry. The term sector agnostic is used when investors do not specialize in specific industries. When we analyzed the data material from the interviews, we also discovered that technology was a significant industry for several of the interviewees. Several interviewees mentioned that they previously invested in oil and gas but now stay away from this industry and try to make more sustainable investments.

#### Figure 9. Main Industries



**Location of the sample.** The majority of interviewees were based in Oslo. We have interviewed angel investors based in the five largest cities in Norway. This distribution reflects where most angel investors are located in Norway by comparison with the investor database (Shifter, 2022)).

#### 4.2 Findings

#### 4.2.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?

To answer whether cognitive biases characterized the decision basis for angel investors, we asked general questions about the investment process that could provide on the occurrence of herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias. From the analysis, we found that the decision basis of angel investors is not entirely rational, as it is characterized by various cognitive biases. On the other hand, the three biases tested varied in result depending on the interviewee's experience, network, and impression of the investor case.

#### **4.2.1.1 Herd Mentality**

We found that herd mentality appeared in the angel investors' decision basis. All the informants admitted to having invested in a case because another investor they looked up to had done so before.

"Yes, I have made an investment because of another investor, as it was a person who has a judgment I trust very much". This indicates that confidence in other investors influences angel investors' decision basis and further argues for the presence of herd mentality. In addition, the analysis found that angel investors' experience affected the occurrence of herd mentality. Angel investors with more experience had greater confidence in their assessment abilities, while inexperienced angel investors tended to follow the assessment methods of more experienced investors. This suggested a greater prevalence of herd mentality in inexperienced angel investors.

The informants stated that networks had always been a helpful resource in the investment process and that business angel networks had increased in popularity in recent years. We found that networks play a vital role for both angel investors who are part of business angel networks and super angels. Angel investors who were part of a business angel network involved their network as soon as they found an interesting case. Both screening and due diligence were done in advance before they invested. Contrary to business angel networks, where the network was involved throughout the investment process, super angels only involved their network when additional experience and expertise were needed to make a proper assessment of the investor case. Their networks were built up over time and consisted of friends, family, former colleagues, and other acquaintances. Common for business angel networks and super angels, networks were involved to minimize risk. The angel investors were open about being influenced by their network but emphasized that they ultimately decided to invest themselves. The informants also expressed strong confidence in their network. This strongly suggests the presence of a herd mentality in the angel investor's decision basis.

"Yes, it has happened that I have invested because someone else did it before me, but that does not mean that I have done it blindly without looking at it myself. I have probably taken an assessment round, but perhaps I have let it be emphasized that someone I trust has approved of it."

The informants described the investment process relatively similarly. We found that angel investors first did a screening of the investment case they had received. Most cases were excluded in this step as they did not meet the angel investor's investment criteria. Then a first meeting with the

entrepreneurs took place, where a light due diligence was carried out afterwards. We also found that it was common for angel investors to take active ownership after investment. Another action most informants mentioned they had taken in recent years was to remove investments in oil and gas from their portfolio.

#### **4.2.1.2 Confirmation Bias**

We found that confirmation bias occurred in the decision basis of the angel investors. When presented with an investor case, our subjects tended to trust what was presented and usually based their investment decision on this information. Our analysis revealed that the angel investors asked questions to help confirm and substantiate the case rather than asking questions to disclose or falsify it. "[...] I am more in favor of having a completely open dialogue with the company. I do not want to test people, but I ask them directly if I have any questions, and then I take that answer as a starting point in further assessment". These findings strongly suggest confirmation bias in the angel investor's decision basis.

Our analysis further exposed that the occurrence of confirmation bias depends on the angel investor's experience. More inexperienced angel investors looked to various investors for guidance on assessing an investor case. On the other hand, experienced angel investors expressed reasonable control over the assessment process and knew what criteria they were looking for. The analysis suggested that more experienced angel investors tended to be overconfident in assessing an investor case. Therefore, confirmation bias was more significant with more experienced angel investors.

Another interesting finding was that most angel investors had conducted one or more investments where the deciding factor was not the potential for financial winnings. Instead, the crucial factor was that the investment case adhered to their personal beliefs and interests, often combined with a heartfelt personal connection. In addition, several admit to having received information after the investment that would have changed their decision to invest if they had known these facts initially. This suggests a substantial occurrence of confirmation bias in the decision basis of angel investors, as the analysis refers to several investment decisions motivated by information confirming investors' beliefs.

"If the startup presents a technology that engages me, then I might be a little colored by the case. I like to emphasize that part a little more than other parts. It's a bit scary, because you should not really let yourself be colored. But when I see such a case, I also get the feeling that there is something I can contribute with to lift the company."

#### 4.2.1.3 Framing Cognitive Bias

The data analysis found that framing cognitive bias occurred in the angel investors' decision basis. Our interviewees shared many similar views when it came to presenting an investor case. It was preferred that the entrepreneurs initiated the first contact and proposed a meeting. The angel investors expected the entrepreneurs to present a well-thought-out and engaging story of how the idea came to life and why this team was the best fit to carry out the business idea. The informants expressed that storytelling is especially critical, as this tells them something about the team's ability to sell its business idea. This speaks for the predominant presence of framing cognitive bias in the decision basis, as the angel investors were influenced by how the investor case was communicated.

Furthermore, we found that the visual presentation of an investor case was significant for angel investors. "You can subconsciously be affected by the fact that the presentation looks very messy and not visually attractive". This was especially important during the Covid-19 pandemic, as the digital meetings put even more focus on the presentations. We also found that grammatical errors, visual anomalies, and inconsistencies gave a dissatisfactory impression and could have the same impact as getting presented with a bad idea. "Being sloppy with the details in a presentation may indicate being sloppy in other areas as well". Another angel investor expressed: "There is something about being a perfectionist, which is an important part of being an entrepreneur". It was clear that the angel investors were influenced by how the investor case was presented, which speaks in favor of the presence of framing cognitive bias in the decision basis.

The gut feeling turned out to be a decisive factor for the angel investor's decision basis and was described as an overall impression of the investor case. "*The gut feeling is crucial in absolutely* every investment I make, presenting an overall assessment of an investment case. Therefore, the decision must be based on a good evaluation of the investment case before the gut feeling is involved.". Informants argued that it was challenging to make entirely rational decisions in an early

phase of a company. Therefore, the gut feeling was especially crucial when assessing teams and other non-financial factors.

"I think the gut feeling matters. Angel investing is not a monotonous game where you can just fill out a form to decide whether to invest or not. Other parameters also come into play; for example, human knowledge, which is also important."

The angel investors thought that the gut feeling was more reliable as they gained more experience and pointed out that the gut feeling was ultimately the deciding factor. The angel investors expressed that they often developed a strong trust in the team if they experienced good chemistry. We, therefore, found that relationships with the team or entrepreneurs can affect investors' impression of the investment case and increase the incidence of framing cognitive bias. Experienced angel investors tended to make quick decisions based on the information they were presented, which suggests that they were influenced by how the information was presented. The analysis speaks for a strong occurrence of framing cognitive bias in the decision basis, as the angel investors largely emphasized the impression of the investor case and how information was presented.

## 4.2.2 RQ2: How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis?

When investigating how environmental variables were assessed as part of the angel investor's decision basis, we asked general questions about the investment process and direct questions about how environmental variables were measured. We found that one out of ten informants carried out specific assessments of environmental variables. The analysis showed limited competence in sustainability and a tendency to assess an investment case based on their *own* perception of what was sustainable.

We found that most angel investors did not consider environmental variables as one of the most important assessment criteria. Although the informants expressed a desire to invest more sustainably, no active actions were taken to achieve this. When we asked which investment criteria were the most important in an assessment process, the informants answered team, market, and technology. The team was emphasized the most by all the angel investors. "Having made many investments, the team is what interests me most and is most crucial. The same team could pivot along the way even if the idea were not completely optimal in the beginning [and still be successful]." The fact that most informants did not mention anything about sustainability suggests that environmental variables are not a central part of the assessment process.

Further, we found that angel investors did not consider concrete environmental variables in the assessment process. Besides the financial potential, we asked our subjects what other factors they looked at when assessing an investor case. It was not until this question was asked that the informants emphasized the environmental variable. When the informants were asked directly about how they assessed environmental variables, only one in ten informants could name specific assessment points. Several informants argued that the companies established today did not have an anti-sustainability profile and did not place as much emphasis on environmental variables. "*I believe that very few companies created today have an anti-sustainability focus. We have never gone so deep into it anyway, as it is difficult to map sustainability at such an early stage.*". We, therefore, found it probable that angel investors made investments without having assessed environmental variables.

Several informants also mentioned that the focus on sustainability had grown significantly in the investment environment, especially in recent years. The term "sustainable investment" was defined by the angel investors as an investment that contributed something positive to the world, society, and environment. "With my investments, I want to make the world a better place, and at least not make it a worse one." It was also stated that it would be worthwhile to assess the investor cases with a long-term perspective, as the requirements for sustainability would increase in the years to come. "Sustainability today is not necessarily the same as sustainability in ten years. We need to look forward". One of the informants also used to ask the startups presenting their case: "What is your contribution to society in ten years?".

We found that every informant wanted their investment to be a sustainable investment but that there were several challenges associated with assessing the various risks related to sustainability. As there is no standard guidance for reporting on sustainability, angel investors found it challenging to make satisfactory measurements. It was also argued that sustainability has a diffuse meaning, with difficulties knowing what is right and wrong at any given time. Angel investors also mentioned greenwashing as a challenge. Every informant had experienced cases where the material was embellished and presented to appear greener and better than reality. Even though the angel investors disclosed greenwashing in some cases, they often chose to rely on the material presented due to time pressure and limited resources. Despite the challenges related to making satisfactory measurements and withholding the competence to do so, we find that the informants expressed an interest and willingness to learn more about sustainable investments.

The informants expressed limited knowledge of ESG and that they had not integrated a similar sustainable investment strategy before. Several argued that ESG investing was better suited for investors at a later stage in the process. The analysis showed that investors with more capital and resources had an easier time assessing and measuring ESG factors. The angel investors found that the ESG investment was unclear and difficult to implement, and the vast majority did not have a conscious relationship with their own sustainability strategy. Based on the analysis, we found that the ecosystem the angel investors operated in, to a large extent, helps to establish guidelines for what a sustainability strategy should contain. Angel investors viewed their role as crucial to the ecosystem, contributing venture capital in a challenging phase of a company's life. Their goal was usually to help the companies survive the valley of death and motivate young businesses to succeed in the next round of financing. *"Without angel investors, there would exist fewer projects and fewer founders. That is why we are such an important part of the ecosystem"*.

### 4.3 Summary of Findings

After analyzing data from the semi-structured interviews using content analysis, this chapter presented various findings that helped answer the research questions. The first research question assesses whether cognitive biases characterized the decision basis for angel investors by testing for herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias. We found that the decision basis of angel investors is not completely rational, as it is characterized by various cognitive biases. The occurrence of herd mentality was largely influenced by experience and network. Confirmation bias also occurred in the decision basis and was affected by experience, personal beliefs, and interests. Finally, we found that the occurrence of framing cognitive bias in the decision basis was heavily

influenced by the angel investor's gut feeling, which was affected by the entrepreneur's presentation of the investment case and their relation to the team.

The second research question addressed how angel investors emphasized environmental variables in their decision basis. We found that most angel investors did not consider environmental variables as one of the most important assessment criteria. Nor did they carry out any specific assessment of environmental variables. Angel investors acknowledged that the focus on sustainability had grown significantly in the investment environment in recent years. We found that every informant wanted their investment to be a sustainable investment but that there were several challenges associated with assessing the various risks related to sustainability. The angel investors expressed limited knowledge of ESG and had not integrated any sustainable investment strategy. They argued that ESG was unclear and difficult to integrate, suggesting that the vast majority did not have a conscious relationship with their own sustainability strategy. The angel investors also argued that most startups today had a sustainable profile and relied on the information presented by entrepreneurs.

## **5.** Discussion

This thesis examines angel investors' decision basis for seed investments aiming to answer the master's research questions. Through content analysis of the data material from the semi-structured interviews, we answered the first research question, which examines how rational the decision basis of angel investors is by testing for the cognitive biases of herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias. Then, using the same method, we examined how angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis, which is our second research question.

Based on our perception of the research results, this chapter will discuss the prominent findings presented in the results chapter above. The research questions are addressed and discussed in separate chapters. Findings from the research are discussed against previous literature and theory presented earlier in the thesis. Analyzing, interpreting, and exploring the significance of the various discoveries are emphasized in the discussion.

#### 5.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?

Without asking leading questions, we tested for the cognitive biases of herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias to answer how rational the decision basis of an angel investor is. As angel investors make both individual and network-based investment decisions, it is interesting to investigate the occurrence of these various cognitive biases in their decision basis. We found that both super angels and business angel networks were affected by cognitive biases. Furthermore, the occurrence of the different biases was influenced by various factors. Our findings are supported by several researchers in behavioral finance, who found that angel investors' decisions are influenced by rational and irrational factors such as cognitive biases and social influences (Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Fama, 1998; Forrester, 2014; Shefrin, 2002; Shleifer, 2000; Taler, 1970).

Traditional finance proposes several principles that contradict our findings related to angel investors. The efficient market hypothesis argues that markets are efficient because the stock market price is correctly priced and reflects all available information (Malkiel, 1989). This theory is not supported in the case of angel investors, as a startup is characterized by incomplete and insufficient information, where most of it is based on a desired future for the company. Expected

utility theory argues that an individual considers the possible outcomes and arrives at an expected benefit based on the preference of these (Davis et al., 1998). This strongly contradicts findings from the analysis that suggest that angel investors have difficulty weighing possible outcomes and that the outcome of the investment is usually not as expected. This is supported by Allais (1953), who argued against the expected utility theory and pointed out that individuals do not always make decisions that meet their desires and needs.

We found that the angel investor's experience largely contributes to influencing the occurrence of the three cognitive biases. This is supported by Kahneman and Tversky (1979), who argue that an investor's decision basis will be greatly influenced by behavioral, psychological, and cognitive aspects (p. 286). We recognize this from Kahneman and Tversky's (1979) prospect theory, where it is argued that the decision weight depends on the perceived probability. Probability is greatly affected by previous experiences, heuristics, and biases. Hammond (2015) finds that prospect theory is mainly a model of risk-taking and decision-making, arguing that the potential value of loss or gain has the most significant impact on the individual's decision rather than the utility (p. 1554). As angel investors, to a greater extent, invest with motivation to drive innovation and help companies they see potential in, we can argue that prospect theory does not appeal to them to the same extent. This is supported by Leonard and Swap (2000), who argue that angel investors are heavily motivated by the joy of contributing to the startup process in the companies they invest in (pp. 71–82).

We argue that angel investors do not always look objectively at the investment case as they often take higher risks than other investors. This is supported by the weighting function of the prospect theory, which argues that investors do not always act by the objective probabilities presented. In addition, the value function argues that investors dislike losses more than they appreciate gains (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, p. 279). This does not appeal to the same extent as angel investors seem to have a higher tolerance for losses. Furthermore, the value function suggests that investors prefer outcomes with less uncertainty than outcomes with higher uncertainty (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979, pp. 277–279). In the case of an angel investor, this will not always be the case, as we find that trust in teams and personal interests and values have influenced them to invest, even if the outcome is characterized by high uncertainty.

#### **5.1.1 Herd Mentality**

Herd mentality is about investors tending to follow other investors' investment decisions. We find that herd mentality occurs in the decision basis of angel investors'. Angel investors' network was one of the factors that influenced the prevalence of herd mentality. Informants expressed that it had become increasingly common for angel investors to participate in an investor network. We recognize this from Forrester (2014), who argues that angel investors both make individual and network investments. Angel investors invest in companies that are characterized by limited access to information. We can draw similarities to Liu et al. (2019), who found that herd mentality occurred due to an individual's incomplete and insufficient information. As a result, angel investors often look to other investors in their network. Angel investors risks making investment decisions based on others' beliefs and inputs instead of relying on their independent analysis. This is a classic example of the herd mentality that we recognize from Chaudhary (2013), where cognitive errors and emotions influence investors' decision basis.

Investor networks were actively used by both super angels and business angel networks. Unlike business angel networks that involve their network throughout the investment process, super angels involved their network when additional experience and expertise were needed to make a proper assessment of the investor case. This contradicts Nielsen (2017), who believes that super angels rarely need investment networks. The difference may be due to the increased use of investor networks in recent years, which our interviews have confirmed. Although the angel investors involve their investor network in different ways, we suggest that these will impact the angel investor's decision basis. Chaudhary (2013) explains the influence of networks and finds that herd mentality occurs based on social pressure to comply with social conformities, and a common misconception claims that a large group is unlikely to be wrong. It is thus conceivable that the networks, to a large extent, put pressure on angel investors to follow them. The majority admitted to having invested because another investor in their network influenced them to do so. The informants expressed solid confidence in their investor networks, and several admitted they were likely to be influenced by them. Forrester (2014) also argues that trust in other investors can affect the decision basis. This suggests a strong presence of herd mentality in the decision basis of the angel investors.

Furthermore, we found that angel investors' experiences can also affect the occurrence of herd mentality. An angel investor with less experience also has a smaller basis for making an investment decision. This often leads to uncertainty among angel investors, who therefore choose to look at the decision basis of more experienced investors. In such a case, the risk is associated with the angel investor assuming that a large group is unlikely to be wrong, so the independent analysis is not prioritized. We recognize this from Chaudhary's (2013) argument for why the herd mentality arises. There is also a risk that angel investors feel the pressure to make investment decisions that are socially acceptable by the network. This can result in poor investment decisions. Liu et al. (2019) emphasize the importance of the angel investor developing the ability to make individual assessments to seize real opportunities and achieve investment success. This is supported by Dimov et al. (2007), who believe that this allows angel investors to be more efficient in their decisionmaking process. On the other hand, we get the impression that experienced angel investors, to a greater extent, rely on their own judgment of an investment case. This is supported by Forrester (2014), who finds that previous experience and accumulated expertise will help angel investors be more focused on the essential areas of the investment case. This suggests that herd mentality occurs to a greater extent in more inexperienced investors.

The occurrence of herd mentality can positively and negatively impact environmental variables. Although cognitive biases, in theory, are presented as something negative, we see that they can also have a positive effect on investment decisions. An investor with sufficient expertise on environmental- and other sustainability-related variables potentially could create strong positive ripple effects if other investors choose to follow their investments. On the other hand, herd mentality could negatively affect a strongly trusted investor lacking expertise in sustainability, deciding to invest in companies presenting an excessive and inaccurate sustainability profile. This increases the risk of greenwashed companies receiving financing. Therefore, it is conceivable that herd mentality may influence angel investors to make less sustainable investments.

#### **5.1.2 Confirmation Bias**

Confirmation bias is about people tending to focus on the information confirming their beliefs while ignoring information contradicting it. From the analysis, we find that confirmation bias occurs in the decision basis of angel investors, but to varying degrees, as different factors affect them individually. The angel investors stated that they usually searched for information that could confirm their impression of the investment case rather than searching for information that could weaken the case. Therefore, we argue that an affirmative focus could draw angel investors towards the information that can substantiate their own perception. We find that confirmation bias occurs more frequently with more experienced angel investors. This may be because angel investors rely more on their own decision-making ability and therefore seek to confirm the information that interests them most. We recognize this in research that suggests that confirmation bias comes from investor overconfidence (Dimov et al., 2007; Mitteness et al., 2012; Peters et al., 2004). Park et al. (2010) also find that confirmation bias strengthens investors' preexisting ideas and tend to make them overconfident. We see the same suggestion in the research of Forrester (2014), who finds that more experienced angel investors invest more significant sums, potentially due to overconfidence.

In the event of such overconfidence in an assessment process, there is also a risk that the entrepreneurs will take advantage of the situation by emphasizing the information that the angel investor aims to verify (Nickerson, 1997). The result may be that angel investors are persuaded to invest on the wrong terms. Again, we can draw similarities to Nickerson (1997), who finds that angel investors find it easier to believe in a theory they would like to be true than a theory they would prefer false. The consequence of this may be that angel investors have too optimistic expectations for investment performance. We find this again in the research of Park et al. (2010), who discovered that confirmation bias made the investors have higher expectations about their investments when in reality, their performance decreased. On the other hand, Forrester (2014) argues that experienced angel investors are usually better at identifying ventures that are likely to do well.

Another aspect related to our findings addresses angel investors' subjective interests and values. From the analysis, we find that the angel investors admit to having made an investment based on a heartfelt connection to the investment case. In these cases, personal interests and values have been emphasized greater than the potential for financial growth. As Nickerson (1997) finds, it is easier for angel investors to believe in a theory they would like to be true than a theory they would prefer false. The risk of making such investments is that angel investors reject investment cases that initially had much potential because they do not meet their individual preferences. The investors

also admitted that in the aftermath of these investments, new information came to light that would have changed their decision to invest if they could have made the decision again. We recognize this in Tversky and Kahneman (1974), who find that cognitive biases affect an investor's judgment in a decision process filled with uncertainty. The angel investors themselves admitted that they allowed themselves to be colored by some investment cases. This suggests that the decision basis for angel investors is largely characterized by confirmation bias.

But what would have happened if angel investors never allowed themselves to be colored by the investor case? It is conceivable that personal interests and values are precisely what drive angel investors. As Forrester (2014) finds, angel investors will base their decision-making on behavioral factors more than other investors. From the analysis, we find that the motivation for angel investors is not only linked to profitability but is also driven by an interest in entrepreneurship and a desire to help early-stage companies, as well as to contribute positively to society. Furthermore, angel investors express that they get a feeling of mastery by being able to help companies. Therefore, we argue that confirmation bias can have a positive impact in that angel investors help companies with a lot of potential to survive in the seed phase.

When it comes to environmental considerations, confirmation bias could both have a negative and a positive effect. For example, suppose an angel investor focuses on sustainability and considers this one of their most important assessment criteria. In that case, it will be one of the first things that the angel investor emphasizes. On the other hand, a negative consequence may be that the company does not survive because angel investors did not prioritize looking at the financial potential. In addition, the outcome will be unfavorable if the angel investor's perception of sustainability is outdated or deficient. The angel investors risk accepting a sustainability profile that, in reality, does not meet the requirements for environmental variables. From the findings, we suggest that experience is crucial for whether an angel investor can distinguish between what is sustainable and what is greenwashing. Therefore, it is conceivable that confirmation bias may influence the angel investor to make less sustainable investments.

#### 5.1.3 Framing Cognitive Bias

Framing cognitive bias occurs when the angel investor's decision is based on the way the information is presented instead of looking at the facts. From the analysis, we find that framing cognitive bias occurs in the decision basis of angel investors, but to varying degrees. Research shows that this is a typical bias that arises in an investor's decision basis (Dimov et al., 2007; Mitteness et al., 2012; Peters et al., 2004). The angel investors express that the decision basis is largely based on how the information is presented. In a time-limited assessment process characterized by limited resources, angel investors likely make relatively quick decisions based on the information for the decision based on how the investment case is presented. This reason is supported by Ritter (2003), who finds that how a concept is presented will impact the decision being made. Therefore, the angel investor will probably choose a positive premise case over a negative one. We recognize this from Tversky and Kahneman (1974), who argue that angel investors will select the alternative that is presented positively over the option that is presented negatively.

The way the information in an investor case is presented is further influenced by the entrepreneur's storytelling ability. We find that the entrepreneur's ability to tell a compelling and clear story during the presentation is important to angel investors. According to the informants, this trait said something about the team's ability to sell its business idea. If the presentation did not present a coherent and engaging story, many angel investors lost interest. Angel investors will probably develop stronger trust in a team that can convince them through storytelling qualities. This increased confidence may further strengthen the incidence of framing cognitive bias. DeGennaro and Dwyer (2014) suggest that the occurrence of framing cognitive bias in angel investors creates a cognitive illusion that the investment will perform better than reality. Information presented by entrepreneurs is usually incomplete and unpredictable. For that reason, it is understandable why angel investors base their decision on the way information is presented, as this usually gives an impression of the team and their ability to implement at an early stage, as the information presented is characterized by inconsistency. We found that visuals gave an impression of the entrepreneurs, and they believed that a messy or sloppy presentation could suggest that the team was disorganized

in other areas as well. This suggests that the decision basis of investors is largely influenced by framing cognitive bias.

Angel investors describe the gut feeling as the overall impression they are left with after receiving all the information about an investment case. Most angel investors chose to rely on their gut feeling when the decision to invest was finally to be made. They argue that gut feeling is crucial for considering non-financial factors such as human capital. As angel investors view this as the essential investment criterion, it is likely that the decision to invest largely relies on the team's impression, suggesting a strong incidence of framing cognitive bias. Therefore, it is important to look at the positive aspects of the occurrence of framing cognitive bias in angel investors' decision basis. Informants argue that it is important to make mistakes when investing, to learn and build experience. This indicates that bad investments will help strengthen the angel investor's ability to make better decisions in that they gradually develop a more critical sense of the information they are presented with and the way it is presented.

The occurrence of framing cognitive bias can have both positive and negative effects on environmental considerations. For example, suppose angel investors emphasize environmental variables and other factors related to sustainability in their assessment. In that case, it is conceivable that the company's sustainability profile will be decisive in the decision to invest. On the other hand, this can have a negative effect if the angel investors do not have the competence required to assess the validity of the information provided. What may be interesting is whether angel investors risk investing in a case portrayed as more environmentally friendly than it is. In such a case, a desire to make more sustainable investments will not be sufficient to make a real difference. Therefore, it is likely that the occurrence of framing cognitive bias may lead to less sustainable investments.

# **5.2 RQ2:** How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis?

#### 5.2.1 Importance of Environmental Variables in the Early Phase

The angel investors were asked what their most important investment criteria were, and no one mentioned environmental variables or similar sustainability criteria. Team, market, and technology were the most important criteria to our informants. Like Tyebjee and Bruno (1984) found, it is emphasized that team is the most important criterion. Some informants emphasize teams over the business idea itself and argue that an idea can pivot, while a team is crucial for implementation. This is supported by Hall and Hofer (1993) and Zacharakis and Meyer (1998), who find that human capital is emphasized more in early phase companies than in later phases. Emphasis is placed on the team's composition, experience, and characteristics. This suggests that angel investors have more confidence in teams meeting these criteria.

Hsu et al. (2013) find that angel investors consider the information they receive to be more credible when entrepreneurs have experience working with young companies, as they usually have more realistic ambitions. As the risk of information asymmetry tends to be higher in startups, it is reasonable to believe that the assessment of teams is related to the purpose of reducing information asymmetry (Davila et al., 2003; Gregorio & Shane, 2003). This is supported by Kaplan and Strömberg (2004), who found that information asymmetry is affected by the team's competence and characteristics. According to Forrester (2014), it is easier to avoid information asymmetry by sufficient implementation of due diligence. This indicates that angel investors place more emphasis on teams as a lack of time and resources prevent them from carrying out sufficient due diligence on the startup.

Similar to Kaplan and Strömberg (2004), angel investors define technology as an important investment criterion. Sandberg and Flatland (2021) find that the risk associated with technology is higher for startups, as they often develop new technology (p. 11). Assessment of technology can, in some cases, be linked to the assessment of environmental variables, as we see a trend in environmental technology that will solve different climate challenges (Wensley, 2021). There may be a possibility that investors still consider environmental variables when examining whether the

technology meets a need and is in demand in the market. Parhankangas and Hellström (2007) find that market risk is linked to unforeseen changes in the market. The trend now shows that the market demands more sustainable products. This suggests that the changes currently taking place in the market will lead angel investors to assess environmental variables and other risks associated with sustainability. This perspective is shared by Sandberg and Flatland (2021), who find that market risk is largely related to climate risk (p. 15).

When the angel investors were asked about the assessed specific points related to environmental variables, the majority answered that they did not make any specific assessments. We had to ask the angel investors about this directly, as the majority did not introduce the topic themselves. It seems that environmental variables are not important for angel investors after we find that this is not salient when asked about their key evaluation criteria. As the assessment process is intended to assess risk, we suggest that angel investors are not consciously concerned with minimizing the risk associated with environmental variables.

Carroll (1991) argues that financial responsibility lays the foundation for further pursuing sustainable considerations. Angel investors mainly invest in the early phase (seed), where the companies operate with limited to no sales income. One possible reason why angel investors do not find it equally important to assess environmental variables may be that they primarily want to help the company create profit to lay the financial foundation. This may justify the informants' statement that the environmental focus will come in a later investment process once the financial basis has been laid. This perspective speaks against Elkington's (1997) triple bottom line, which argues that social and environmental considerations must be emphasized equally as profit. Based on angel investors' statements, it is conceivable that this perspective is more appropriate for established companies that have already laid a financial foundation.

Furthermore, angel investors are concerned with the company's stakeholders but with a slightly different purpose than those emphasized in stakeholder theory. Angel investors look at how these can assist the company in creating a financial foundation rather than focusing on what value the company can create for its stakeholders, as presented by Freeman and McVea (2001). Porter and Kramer (2011) believe that companies with a well-established social responsibility will achieve

social and economic profit. According to Brown and Deegan (1998), both society and the media put increasing pressure on companies to run a more sustainable value chain. Therefore, as Porter and Kramer (2011) argue, it is conceivable that products and services that meet social needs over time will increase in demand. This suggests that angel investors will eventually have to change their investment strategy and take a position on environmental variables as part of their assessment process.

#### 5.2.2 Lack of Competence Lead to Challenges in Implementing ESG Strategy

To assess non-financial information, investors often choose to change their investment strategy to achieve more sustainable investments. When we asked about the angel investors' knowledge of ESG, the majority answered that they had little knowledge of this investment strategy. The informants also did not use similar strategies for sustainable investments. Nevertheless, the angel investors explain that they are experiencing an increase in integrating investment strategies that take sustainability into account among investors, especially in recent years. This may be related to Brown and Deegan's (1998) observation that society and the media pressure investors to integrate ESG to a greater extent. Although the financial market has taken sustainability into account through responsible investments, angel investors express several challenges related to implementing ESG in their investment strategy (Borlaug & Aarsten, 2018, p. 15).

Angel investors believe that ESG investing is mainly suitable for more prominent investors. This is in line with OECD (2020), which finds that ESG investments are most used among institutional investors. Although the statistics show that most of those who use ESG investing are larger and more organized investment companies, inevitably, future regulations will probably place more demands on smaller companies and angel investors. Furthermore, angel investors express that it is challenging to decide on a sustainable investment strategy because countless guidelines and frameworks exist. As a result, they experience difficulties defining and implementing ESG in their investment strategy. KPMG (2022) stands by this and states that all these frameworks and voluntary standards constitute the problem, making the process of deciding on sustainability very complex. We see the same trend in the research of Siddique and Sciulli (2018), who found that 52% of the investors surveyed failed to choose a dominant pro-environmental strategy (p. 1). As angel investors themselves find it challenging to implement a sustainability strategy, they are
usually also aware of how demanding it will be for startups and small companies. Like Siddique and Sciulli (2018), this suggests that angel investors prefer small companies with limited resources to focus on following existing regulations rather than taking on pro-sustainability initiatives (p. 1258).

As there is no global standard for sustainability reporting, one consequence is that companies' sustainability reporting will have varying quality (Lokuwaduge & Silva, 2022, p. 152). Investors are therefore concerned about the companies' transparency in terms of sustainability (OECD, 2020, p. 110). For angel investors, we can draw some similarities. The informants stated that they have repeatedly revealed greenwashing in startups. Although angel investors believe that they disclose these companies, this suggests that more startups succeed with greenwashing when angel investors do not have a defined sustainability strategy. Therefore, from the analysis, we believe that angel investors are likely to invest in less sustainable companies, as this is due to a lack of sufficient expertise in the ESG assessment. When angel investors do not have a conscious relationship with their sustainability strategy, we get the impression that the assessment is mainly based on their own perception of sustainability, which will be individual and vary in quality with each individual investor. Like our assumptions, Sandberg and Flatland (2021) find that private investors relate differently to ethical investments.

#### 5.2.3 Similarities Between the Investment Process and ESG Strategies

The angel investors had little knowledge of ESG investment and had not previously used any similar investment strategies for sustainability. It was argued that ESG investment was unclear and difficult to implement and that it was initially better suited for larger investment companies. Friedman (1970) argued that a company does not have sufficient competence or information to consider such ethical considerations. Therefore, we suggest that a time-stressed assessment process with limited access to resources means that angel investors must prioritize which risks are most important to assess. We further suggest that angel investors do not have a conscious relationship with their sustainability strategy, as they express difficulties in seeing the connection between finances and sustainability.

Despite this, we see several similarities between angel investors' descriptions of the investment process and different ESG strategies. These are similarities found through analysis, which the angel investors themselves do not seem aware of. This can be explained by the fact that angel investors usually do not follow a specific decision model (Maxwell et al., 2011). Angel investors present, for example, that they avoid investing in oil and gas and have removed these investments from their portfolios. We can draw similarities to the ESG strategy exclusion and divestment, where the investor sells out of or omits to consider investments in industries that are not considered ESG investments. Furthermore, angel investors typically excluded investment cases during screening where the company did not meet their predetermined criteria. Here we can draw similarities to negative screening, an ESG strategy where the investor excludes certain companies, sectors, or practices from the portfolio. Finally, angel investors often choose a shortcut decision-making heuristic known as elimination-by-aspects (Maxwell et al., 2011).

Another significant similarity is related to active ownership, an ESG strategy in which the investor is actively involved in the company through its shareholder position to influence company behavior to comply with ESG values. Active ownership is a widespread strategy for angel investors, who usually involve the companies after investment. Modern portfolio theory argues that return on investment is the primary motivation for an investor. Several researchers disagree and argue that investors' main motivations are interests, a desire to help companies, and create jobs for society, et cetera (Freear et al., 1995; Leonard & Swap, 2000; MIT Entrepreneurship Center, 2000; Sullivan, 1991). Nielsen (2017) states that an investor's main motivation for investing is contributing something to the company, themselves, and society. The informants communicated that they wanted to help startups by sharing their experience, network, and capital. The results indicate that angel investors' main motivation to get actively involved in other companies is also linked to these three factors and that these may be somewhat related to ESG. It may seem that the ecosystem in which the angel investors operate has largely contributed to influencing this unconscious sustainability strategy. This suggests that the investment process, in principle, lays a good foundation for ESG investing but that the lack of expertise on the part of angel investors hinders the implementation of ESG.

#### 5.2.4 A Reactive Approach to Sustainability

The angel investors we interviewed believed that they had an important responsibility to society. Their main duty was to contribute venture capital in a challenging phase of a company's life and motivate young businesses to succeed in the next round of financing. In 2021, global funding in the seed phase increased by 104% (Sheth, 2022, sec. 3). As angel investors are usually among the primary sources of funding for a startup, we suggest that angel investors will play a crucial role in shaping the leading companies of the future. This responsibility indicates that it is important that angel investors integrate ESG considerations into their decision-making process early. Nevertheless, we find a lack of expertise related to ESG investing and other sustainability strategies. Seth (2022) finds that venture companies are lagging in incorporating ESG into the investment process.

Although the angel investors express that they desire to consider ESG in their investments, no active actions are taken to accomplish this. Here we can draw links to Botsari and Lang (2020), which find that approximately 60% of angel investors assess ESG in their investment decision. Still, only 10% of angel investors state ESG considerations among their three most important selection criteria. Furthermore, angel investors argue that most companies founded today have a sustainable profile. This attitude, combined with strong confidence in the team, suggests that angel investors have a high probability of making less sustainable investments. As Henderson (2015) and Stern (2008) argue, this can lead to startups losing competitiveness and profitability in a world where society is putting increasing pressure on companies to take environmental considerations into account. Despite this, Botsari and Lang (2020) find that approximately 48% of angel investors do not believe ESG criteria are essential for investment performance. Therefore, they do not integrate ESG into their investment strategy. We find several similarities between the angel investors' attitudes and our research findings. Compared to previous research and theoretical frameworks, our results suggest that angel investors have a reactive approach to sustainability. By reactive approach to sustainability, we mean that the way angel investors exercise assessment of an investment case has a counteracting effect concerning their ambition to invest sustainably.

#### 5.2.5 Aspiring Toward a Proactive Approach

Despite a reactive approach to sustainability, angel investors have ambitions to implement ESG in their investment strategy. Several of the informants stated that when assessing an investment case, they tried to look at the potential of the investment in the long term. We recognize this from Henderson (2015), who supports the importance of integrating sustainability into business but emphasizes the difficulty of introducing this in the short term, as it requires a sacrifice of profits for the company. Although it is difficult to predict what will be viable in the future, Henderson (2015) emphasizes that sustainability will drive profit if presented as a long-term business strategy. This perspective is also supported by Hartzmark and Sussman (2019), who find that investors who integrate ESG strategy do better in long-term equity. Nevertheless, the informants emphasize that it is challenging to have a long-term perspective when they usually invest in a relatively early phase.

In contrast to the otherwise reactive approach, this shows that angel investors desire a proactive approach to sustainability. With a proactive approach, we believe that angel investors take a position on future ambitions to integrate sustainability as part of the investment strategy and take participatory actions to achieve this. The informants expressed that they want to improve their investment strategy. Still, we find that a lack of competence in sustainability makes it difficult for them to define goals for ESG, as well as to integrate ESG into their strategy. This may also be related to the numerous frameworks and standards, making it difficult to maneuver. We must recognize that fewer companies would have survived the valley of death without angel investors. Many large companies would not exist today if angel investors had not contributed their capital and experience in a phase where additional financing was necessary, and few other investors were not risk-averse enough to invest in the company. We see it as crucial that the angel investors see the opportunities that lie in implementing ESG in their investment strategy, as this will have a substantial impact on the company's development in the future.

## **5.3 Summary Discussion**

The discussion mainly deals with the research findings, where we compare these against theory and previous research. Our analysis found the occurrence of cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis. This is largely supported by theoretical frameworks and research related to behavioral finance. Herd mentality is mainly affected by trust in the investor network and the angel investors' experience. This applies to both super angels and business angel networks. Confirmation bias is a common bias that typically arises in an investor's decision basis. Here the occurrence is also affected by the angel investor's experience. Supported by previous research, this can be explained by the fact that angel investors with a lot of experience risk becoming too overconfident in their decisions (Dimov et al., 2007; Forrester, 2014; Mitteness et al., 2012; Park et al., 2010; Peters et al., 2004). Angel investors will also be colored by a case that fits their subjective interests and values, which speaks for the further occurrence of confirmation bias. Framing cognitive bias occurs in angel investors' decision basis. Based on how the information is presented, angel investor forms a gut feeling that represents the overall impression of the case. Most angel investors chose to rely on their gut feeling when the decision to invest was finally to be made. Based on the analysis, we find it probable that cognitive biases in the decision basis can lead to less sustainable investments. Nevertheless, it must be mentioned that the common denominator for such an outcome is due to a lack of competence in environmental and other sustainability-related variables.

Environmental variables were not mentioned as one of the most important investment criteria in angel investors' decision basis. We also found that no concrete assessment was made of the environmental variables. Instead, the team became by far the most important investment criterion. This is supported by the fact that investment in startups is characterized by high information asymmetry. Therefore, an angel investor places the most emphasis on teams to minimize the risk associated with this. The results suggest that angel investors emphasize teams, as lack of time and resources prevents them from carrying out sufficient due diligence on the startup. Furthermore, angel investors' prioritization of environmental factors is supported by the pyramid of corporate social responsibility. This theory addresses how economics and sustainability should be connected and argue that a financial basis must be the basis before focusing on social and sustainable responsibility. This may justify why angel investors primarily want to help startups financially and believe that environmental considerations come at a later stage.

Although angel investors have limited relation to ESG investing and their sustainability strategy, we can draw several similarities between the described investment process and different ESG strategies. This suggests that angel investors have an investment strategy that makes it possible to make sustainable investments. However, from the analysis, we find that the lack of sufficient sustainability competence limits the angel investor's ability to carry out sustainable investments in practice. Although angel investors emphasize the importance of sustainable investments, no active actions are taken to achieve them. The angel investors also believe that they can expose companies that greenwash their sustainability profile based on their own perception of sustainability. This suggests that angel investors have a reactive approach to sustainability. Nevertheless, they express a desire for a more proactive approach. The increasing pressure from society and the media can possibly, over time, affect angel investors to assess environmental variables and other risks associated with sustainability.

# 6. Conclusion

In this chapter, we summarize the primary research outcomes and answer how this addresses our research aims from a broader perspective. We further consider the implications of our research and suggestions for further research. This master's thesis aims to create an understanding of how cognitive biases affect angel investors' decisions and whether this leads to less sustainable investments. Using a qualitative method, we conducted semi-structured interviews with ten different angel investors, where we asked non-leading questions about the investment process. After conducting a content analysis of the collected data material, we were able to answer the following two research questions:

# 6.1 RQ1: How rational is the decision basis of angel investors?

We found that various cognitive biases occurred during the assessment of an investment case, which means that the decision basis for angel investors is not entirely rational. Findings indicate an evident occurrence of the three cognitive biases herd mentality, confirmation bias, and framing cognitive bias. These findings are supported by researchers in the field of behavioral finance, arguing that investors' decision basis violates several of the principles of traditional finance as it is influenced by psychological, behavioral, and cognitive biases (Baker & Nofsinger, 2010; Barberis & Thaler, 2003; Fama, 1998; Miller, 1986; Shefrin, 2002; Shiller & Jain, 2003; Statman, 1995, 1999). Both super angels and business angel networks used networks in the assessment process to arrive at a decision basis, where the purpose was related to minimizing risk. We found that angel investors had strong confidence in their networks and admitted they had been influenced by them on several occasions. These findings suggest a substantial prevalence of herd mentality. This is supported by Liu et al. (2019) and Chaudhary (2013), who argue that angel investors look to other investors to minimize risk when the information they hold is incomplete and insufficient.

Another finding that speaks for the occurrence of confirmation bias is that angel investors usually seek to confirm the information that stands for their personal interests and values rather than looking for weaknesses in the investment case. We can draw similarities to Nickerson (1997), who argues that investors find it easier to believe in a theory they would like to be true than a theory they would prefer false. The analysis also indicated that confirmation bias occurred to a greater

extent among experienced angel investors who could appear to be overconfident in their decision basis as they knew exactly what criteria they were looking for. We recognize this from various research (Dimov et al., 2007; Forrester, 2014; Mitteness et al., 2012; Park et al., 2010; Peters et al., 2004). Angel investors' decision basis was largely influenced by how the entrepreneurs presented the investment case and the presentation's visual expression. These findings suggest a substantial incidence of framing cognitive bias. We can draw similarities to Ritter (2003), and Tversky and Kahneman (1974), who find that the investor decision basis will be influenced by how the concept is presented. DeGennaro and Dwyer (2014) argue that an angel investor can create a cognitive illusion that the investment will perform better than it does. The gut feeling was also a strong indicator of the decision basis, as this represented an overall impression of the investment case.

Although we found an evident occurrence of cognitive biases in the angel investor's decision basis, we ask ourselves how much this affects the decision basis. From previous research and theory (e.g., Forrester, 2014; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974), we get the impression that cognitive biases are discussed from a negative perspective. In an early phase, the startup is characterized by unpredictability, and the information is largely based on a predicted future. The assessment of the investment case will probably not be satisfactory at this point, and few investors are willing to invest as this phase is characterized by high risk. Our findings, therefore, suggest that it may be necessary for angel investors to overlook the cognitive biases that may occur in the decision basis and emphasize their ability to see the long-term potential of what the company can become.

# 6.2 RQ2: How do angel investors emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis?

We found that the majority of angel investors did not take environmental variables into account in their decision basis. Only one in ten informants could name specific assessment points for environmental variables. Henderson (2015) and Stern (2008) argue that angel investors, as a result of this, risk losing competitiveness and profitability in a world where ESG considerations are increasing. This suggests that angel investors have a limited relationship with sustainable investments. The angel investors found it challenging to define the concept and expressed that it was demanding to implement such a strategy. This is supported by various research (e.g., KPMG,

2022; OECD, 2020; Siddique & Sciulli, 2018), who find that angel investors have difficulties defining and implementing ESG in their investment strategy, as the various frameworks create confusion and are mainly adapted to institutional investors. Nevertheless, we find that the investment process described by angel investors has several similarities to different ESG strategies. The angel investors themselves are not aware of these similarities, suggesting that they do not have a conscious relationship with their own sustainability strategy. We recognize this from Maxwell et al. (2011), who argue that angel investors usually do not follow a specific decision model and therefore are not necessarily aware of their own investment strategy. Although the investment process itself is an excellent basis for integrating ESG investing, we found that lack of expertise is the biggest obstacle in implementing such a strategy. From the analysis, it is clear that angel investors' possible assessment of environmental variables will be based on their own perception of sustainability.

Although angel investors emphasize the importance of sustainable investments, few take active actions to achieve them. We can draw similarities to research done by Botsari and Lang (2020), who find that most angel investors assess ESG, but few consider it among the most important assessment criteria and believe that it will not affect investment performance. Several angel investors expect established companies to have a sustainable profile but have not secured enough expertise to ensure this quality. This makes them more vulnerable to greenwashing and making less sustainable investments. This is supported by Lokuwaduge and Silva (2022), who find that the varying quality of ESG reporting and assessment can lead to an increased risk of greenwashing. Our analysis, therefore, suggests that angel investors have a reactive approach to sustainability. On the other hand, angel investors express a desire to carry out sustainable investments and assess investment cases from a long-term perspective. We recognize this from Henderson (2015), who argues that sustainability will drive profit if presented as a long-term business strategy. This suggests that angel investors aspire toward a more proactive approach to sustainability. Sussman (2019) also argues that investors who integrate ESG strategy do better in long-term equity. Still, the informants emphasize that it is challenging to have a long-term perspective when they usually invest in a relatively early phase.

From our theoretical framework, we find that angel investors' relationship to sustainability is similar to Carroll's (1991) Pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility. The framework argues that the financial basis must be in place before social and environmental sustainability can be considered. Unfortunately, the financial basis in the early phase is usually not in place as startups have limited to no sales revenue. Therefore, the analysis suggests that angel investors' primary responsibility is to help startups build a financial foundation. Several informants expressed that the focus on environmental and social sustainability comes at a later stage. In summary, we find that angel investors do not emphasize environmental variables in their decision basis and seem to be unaware of their own sustainability strategy.

#### 6.3 Do cognitive biases in the decision basis cause less sustainable investments?

Based on our research, we found that cognitive biases in the decision basis can lead to less sustainable investments. From the analysis, we found that cognitive biases could positively and negatively impact the sustainability of investments. However, what was interesting was that the outcome was influenced by a common factor, the angel investors' competence in sustainability. These findings suggest that it is not the cognitive biases themselves that lead to less sustainable investments but rather the angel investors' individual competence and personal preferences, as well as the ecosystem of which they are part of.

## **6.4 Implications of the Research**

Our research makes a theoretical contribution to the field of innovation and entrepreneurship on how cognitive biases affect the angel investors' decision basis. There is different research about which variables affect angel investors' decision-making process. However, few address how these affect the decision basis. Our research provides new insight into what triggers the occurrence of various cognitive biases and how they can affect the decision basis. Furthermore, the research will contribute new knowledge related to angel investors' consideration of environmental variables, as well as angel investors' relationship to sustainable investments. There is already limited research related to angel investors' sustainability strategy. Our findings on similarities between ESG strategies and the investment process of angel investors can potentially lead to further research on how strategies for sustainable investments can be adapted to smaller companies and investors for more straightforward implementation.

When it comes to practical implications, our research will give both startups and investor communities an increased understanding of how cognitive biases affect the decision basis. This will make angel investors more aware of their own assessment process and give startups an understanding of how they can present their investment case to a potential investor. Potentially, this can be useful for angel investors who aim to adjust their assessment process. Furthermore, our findings of angel investors' limited awareness of their own sustainability strategy could create awareness among them and potentially create an incentive to acquire more competence related to sustainability. Finally, the finding of the investment process' similarities to ESG strategies may lower the threshold for using ESG strategies and influence a more proactive approach to sustainability.

## 6.5 Limitations and Recommendations for Further Research

It is essential to be aware of the possible limitations of the master's thesis. The limitations of using a qualitative method are that the methodology can be too subjective and the sample size too small. Nevertheless, we defend the choice of using a qualitative method as this gave us more depth in the answers so that we could gain a more comprehensive understanding of the research topic than we would have gained through a quantitative study. For further research, it may be interesting to build on our research and conduct a quantitative study with a larger sample size in an attempt to be able to generalize results to a broader population.

Another limitation is that our research has a relatively narrow focus, as we only examine the occurrence of three cognitive biases and do not consider other biases or factors that affect the decision basis. However, this narrow focus was necessary to ensure the quality of the findings made. Therefore, a proposal for further research is to investigate other possible cognitive biases or factors affecting the angel investor's decision basis. Through research, we have learned that an investment process is complex and will be affected by various cognitive biases, but that this does not necessarily have to be exclusively negative. Therefore, we suggest looking further into the potential positive aspects of cognitive biases in angel investors' decision basis for further research.

Our findings indicate that angel investors lack competence in sustainability. A limitation of our master's thesis may be that experiences from previous meetings with investors have influenced us as researchers. For further research, we suggest examining the impact of implementing a sustainability strategy for early-stage investors. As we find that the investor networks affect the angel investor's decision basis, it may also be interesting to explore the importance of these networks and their influence.

# 7. References List

- Ackert, L. & Deaves, R. (2009). Behavioral Finance: Psychology, Decision-Making, and Markets. South-Western College Publishing.
- Akerlof, G. A. (1970). The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 84(3), 488–500. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/1879431
- Alasuutari, P., Bickman, L. & Brannen, J. (2008). The SAGE Handbook of Social Research Methods (1st ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Allais, M. (1953). Le Comportement de l'Homme Rationnel devant le Risque: Critique des Postulats et Axiomes de l'Ecole Americaine. *Econometrica*, 21(4), 503. https://doi.org/10.2307/1907921
- Amel-Zadeh, A. & Serafeim, G. (2017). Why and How Investors Use ESG Information: Evidence from a Global Survey. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2925310
- Amel-Zadeh, A. & Serafeim, G. (2018). Why and How Investors Use ESG Information: Evidence from a Global Survey. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 74(3). https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v74.n3.2
- Andriotto Financial Services. (2020, May 29). *The Importance of Technology Readiness Level in EIC Accelerator*. https://www.andriotto.com/the-importance-of-technology-readiness-level-ineic-accelerator/
- Aven, T. (2011). On Some Recent Definitions and Analysis Frameworks for Risk, Vulnerability, and Resilience. *Risk Analysis*, 31(4), 515–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2010.01528.x

- Baker, H. K. & Nofsinger, J. R. (2010). Behavioral Finance: Investors, Corporations, and Markets (Vol. 6). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Barberis, N., Shleifer, A. & Vishny, R. (1998). A model of investor sentiment. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 49, 307–343. https://doi.org/10.3386/w5926
- Barberis, N. & Thaler, R. (2003). Chapter 18 A survey of behavioral finance. Handbook of the Economics of Finance, 1, 1053–1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1574-0102(03)01027-6
- Baron, D. P. (2008). Managerial contracting and corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Public Economics*, 92(1–2), 268–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2007.05.008
- Becker, G. S. (1994). Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, with Special Reference to Education (3rd ed.). University of Chicago Press.
- Beech, J. (2015). Doing your business research project (K. Smy, Ed.; 1st ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Benartzi, S. & Thaler, R. H. (1995). Myopic loss aversion and the equity premium puzzle. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110.1(1), 73–92. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/2118511
- Berger, A. N. & Udell, G. F. (1998). The economics of small business finance: The roles of private equity and debt markets in the financial growth cycle. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 22(6–8), 613–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-4266(98)00038-7
- Besley, T. & Ghatak, M. (2007). Retailing public goods: The economics of corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Public Economics*, 91(9), 1645–1663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2007.07.006
- Block, J., Fisch, C., Vismara, S. & Andres, R. (2019). Private equity investment criteria: An experimental conjoint analysis of venture capital, business angels, and family offices. *Journal* of Corporate Finance, 58, 329–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2019.05.009

- Borlaug, I. & Aarsten, L. (2018). Kapitalforvaltere i en ny tid: Hvordan integreres bærekraft? Universitetet i Agder. [Master's thesis, University of Agder]. UiA Brage. https://uia.brage.unit.no/uia-xmlui/handle/11250/2561451
- Botsari, A. & Lang, F. (2020). ESG considerations in venture capital and business angel investment decisions: Evidence from two panEuropean surveys. EconStor.
- Brown, N. & Deegan, C. (1998). The public disclosure of environmental performance information—a dual test of media agenda setting theory and legitimacy theory. *Accounting and Business Research*, 29(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.1998.9729564

Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press Inc.

- Carpentier, C. & Suret, J. M. (2015). Angel group members' decision process and rejection criteria: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30(6), 808–821. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2015.04.002
- Carroll, A. B. (1979). A Three-Dimensional Conceptual Model of Corporate Performance. *The Academy of Management Review*, 4(4), 497–505. https://doi.org/10.2307/257850
- Carroll, A. B. (1991). The Pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility: Toward the Moral Management of Organizational Stakeholders. 39–48. https://assetpdf.scinapse.io/prod/2035880114/2035880114.pdf
- Chaudhary, A. K. (2013). Impact of behavioral finance in investment decision and strategies a fresh approach. *International Journal of Management Research and Business Strategy*, 2(2). https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.740.3055&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Chen, J. (2021a, February 23). *Due Diligence*. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/duediligence.asp
- Chen, J. (2021b, November 22). *Institutional Investor*. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/institutionalinvestor.asp

- Cook, J., Nuccitelli, D., Green, S. A., Richardson, M., Winkler, B., Painting, R., Way, R., Jacobs, P. & Skuce, A. (2013). Quantifying the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(2), 024024. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024024
- Costa, D. F., Carvalho, F. de M. & Moreira, B. C. de M. (2018). Behavioral economics and behavioral finance: A bibliometric analysis of the scientific fields. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 33(1), 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12262
- Crane, A., Palazzo, G., Spence, L. J. & Matten, D. (2014). Contesting the value of «creating shared value». *California Management Review*, 2(46), 130–153. https://doi.org/10.1525/cmr.2014.56.2.130
- Crosley, J. (2021, March 1). *What (Exactly) Is Qualitative Content Analysis?* Grad Coach International. https://gradcoach.com/qualitative-content-analysis/
- Crossley, J. (2021, September 1). *How To Write The Methodology Chapter*. Grad Coach International. https://gradcoach.com/how-to-write-the-methodology-chapter/
- Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D. & Subrahmanyam, A. (1998). Investor Psychology and Security Market Under- and Overreactions. *The Journal of Finance*, 53(6), 1839–1885. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00077
- Davila, A., Foster, G. & Gupta, M. (2003). Venture capital financing and the growth of startup firms. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 18(6), 689–708. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0883-9026(02)00127-1
- Davis, J. B., Hands, D. W. & Mäki, U. (1998). *The Handbook of Economic Methodology*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- DeGennaro, R. P. & Dwyer, G. P. (2014). Expected Returns to Stock Investments by Angel Investors in Groups. *European Financial Management*, 20(4), 739–755. https://doi.org/10.1111/eufm.12002

- Diamond, D. W. (1984). Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 51(3), 393. https://doi.org/10.2307/2297430
- Dimov, D., Shepherd, D. A. & Sutcliffe, K. M. (2007). Requisite expertise, firm reputation, and status in venture capital investment allocation decisions. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 22(4), 481–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2006.05.001
- Dmytriyev, S. D., Freeman, R. E. & Hörisch, J. (2021). The Relationship between Stakeholder Theory and Corporate Social Responsibility: Differences, Similarities, and Implications for Social Issues in Management. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(6), 1441–1470. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12684
- Dudovskiy, J. (n.d.). *Interpretivism (interpretivist) Research Philosophy*. Business Research Methodology. https://research-methodology.net/research-philosophy/interpretivism/
- Elkington, J. (1997). Cannibals with Forks; The triple bottom line of 21st-century business. *Environmental Quality Management*, 8(1), 37–51. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/tqem.3310080106
- Elkington, J. (2018, June 25). 25 Years Ago I Coined the Phrase "Triple Bottom Line." Here's Why It's Time to Rethink It. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2018/06/25-years-ago-icoined-the-phrase-triple-bottom-line-heres-why-im-giving-up-on-it
- Elton, E. J., Gruber, M. J., Brown, S. J. & Goetzmann, W. N. (2014). *Modern Portfolio Theory and Investment Analysis* (9th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- European Commission. (2022a). *Business angels*. European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/growth/access-finance/policy-areas/business-angels\_en
- European Commission. (2022b). *EU taxonomy for sustainable activities*. European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities\_en

- Eurosif. (2018). *European SRI study 2018*. https://www.eurosif.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/10/European-SRI-2018-Study.pdf
- Eurosif. (2021). 2021 Eurosif Report Fostering investor impact. https://www.eurosif.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/11/2021-Eurosif-Report-Fostering-investor-impact.pdf
- Evans, J. St. B. T. (1989). *Bias in human reasoning: Causes and consequences*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Fama, E. F. (1998). Market efficiency, long-term returns, and behavioral finance. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 49(3), 283–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-405x(98)00026-9
- Fernando, J. (2021, July 16). *Death Valley Curve*. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/death-valley-curve.asp
- Financial Times. (2021). *The rise of ESG: Is this the defining moment?* https://www.pictet.ft.com/the-rise-of-esg-is-this-the-defining-moment
- Forrester, R. C. (2014). Behavioral finance: Factors influencing Angel investor decisions. [Dissertation, Kennesaw State University]. DigitalCommons. https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/etd/635/
- Freear, J., Sohl, J. E. & Jr., W. E. W. (1995). Angels: personal investors in the venture capital market. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 7(1), 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985629500000005
- Freeman, R. E. & McVea, J. (2001). A Stakeholder Approach to Strategic Management. Elsevier. https://asset-pdf.scinapse.io/prod/2035880114/2035880114.pdf
- Friedman, M. (1970). The Social Responsibility of Business is to Increase its Profits. *The New York Times Magazine*, 32–33, 122–124. http://graphics8.nytimes.com/packages/pdf/business/miltonfriedman1970.pdf

- Fybish, A. (2022, January 28). *Top Norwegian Startups To Watch in 2022*. Startup Stash. https://startupstash.com/norwegian-startups/
- Grant, M. (2021, September 15). *Startup*. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/startup.asp
- Gregorio, D. D. & Shane, S. (2003). Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others? *Research Policy*, *32*(2), 209–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0048-7333(02)00097-5
- Greiner, C. (2020, November 13). 10 norske selskaper med lavest ESG-risiko: Hvilke norske aksjer har lavest ESG-risiko ifølge Sustainalytics? Morningstar. https://www.morningstar.no/no/news/207243/10-norske-selskaper-med-lavest-esg-risiko.aspx

Grønmo, S. (2016). Samfunnsvitenskapelige metoder (2nd ed.). Fagbokforlaget.

- Guillen, D. E. F. (2019). Qualitative Research: Hermeneutical Phenomenological Method. *Propósitos y Representaciones*, 7(1), 201–229. https://doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n1.267
- Hall, J. & Hofer, C. W. (1993). Venture capitalists' decision criteria in new venture evaluation. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 8(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9026(93)90009-t
- Hammond, R. C. (2015). Behavioral finance: Its history and its future. [Selected Honors Theses, Southeastern University]. FireScholars. https://firescholars.seu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1030&context=honors
- Hartzmark, S. M. & Sussman, A. B. (2019). Do Investors Value Sustainability? A Natural Experiment Examining Ranking and Fund Flows. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3016092
- Henderson, R. (2015). Making the Business Case for Environmental Sustainability. Harvard Business School Working Paper, No. 15-068. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198704072.001.0001

- Hill, J. (2020). Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Investing : A Balanced Analysis of the Theory and Practice of a Sustainable Portfolio. Academic Press; eBook Collection (EBSCOhost).
- Hirshleifer, D. (2001). Investor Psychology and Asset Pricing. *The Journal of Finance*, 56(4), 1533–1597. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00379
- Hsu, D. K., Haynie, J. M., Simmons, S. A. & McKelvie, A. (2013). What matters matters differently: a conjoint analysis of the decision policies of angel and venture capital investors. *An International Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance*, *16*(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/13691066.2013.825527
- IPCC. (2021, October 1). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Technical Summary. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC\_AR6\_WGII\_FinalDraft\_Technic alSummary.pdf
- Jacobsen, D. I. (2015). Hvordan gjennomføre undersøkelser? Cappelen Damm Akademisk.
- Jacobsen, J. B. (2022, January 14). *Startup-Norge kneppet innpå resten av verden*. Shifter. https://shifter.no/nyheter/startup-norge-kneppet-innpa-resten-av-verden/233228
- Kahneman, D. & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk. *Econometrica*, 47(2), 263. https://doi.org/10.2307/1914185
- Kaplan, S. N. & Strömberg, P. (2004). Characteristics, Contracts, and Actions: Evidence from Venture Capitalist Analyses. *The Journal of Finance*, 59(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2004.00696.x
- Kerber, R. & Jessop, S. (2021, December 23). Analysis: How 2021 became the year of ESG investing. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/markets/us/how-2021-became-year-esg-investing-2021-12-23/

- Kishan, S. (2022, February 3). ESG by the Numbers: Sustainable Investing Set Records in 2021. Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-02-03/esg-by-the-numberssustainable-investing-set-records-in-2021
- KPMG. (2022). *Towards consistent and comparable ESG reporting*. KPMG International. https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2020/05/towards-consistent-and-comparable-esg-reporting.html
- Krumsvik, R. J. (2013). *Forskningsdesign og kvalitativ metode. Ei innføring* (1st ed.). Fagbokforlaget.
- Kut, C., Pramborg, B. & Smolarski, J. (2007). Managing financial risk and uncertainty: The case of venture capital and buy-out funds. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 26(2), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.20132
- Larsen, A. K. (2017). En enklere metode (2nd ed.). Fagbokforlaget.

Leonard, D. & Swap, W. (2000). Gurus in the Garage. Harvard Business Review, 78(6), 71-73.

- Liu, X., Liu, B. & Han, X. (2019). Analysis of Herd Effect of Investor's Behavior from the Perspective of Behavioral Finance. *Proceedings of the 2019 International Conference on Management, Education Technology and Economics (ICMETE 2019).* https://doi.org/10.2991/icmete-19.2019.133
- Lo, A. W. (2004). The Adaptive Markets Hypothesis: Market Efficiency from an Evolutionary Perspective. *Journal of Portfolio Management, Forthcoming*, 33. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=602222#references-widget
- Lokuwaduge, C. S. de S. & Silva, K. M. D. (2022). ESG Risk Disclosure and the Risk of Green Washing. Australasian Business, Accounting and Finance Journal, 16(1), 146–159. https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v16i1.10
- Luque, M. S. de, Washburn, N. T., Waldman, D. A. & House, R. J. (2008). Unrequited Profit: How The purpose of the current study was to examine the Stakeholder and indirect effects of

executives' stakeholder and economic Economic Values Relate values on firm performance through their followers' per to Subordinates' Perceptions of Leadership and Firm Performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *53*(4), 626–654. https://doi.org/10.2189/asqu.53.4.626

- Malkiel, B. G. (1989). Efficient Market Hypothesis. *Finance*, 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-20213-3\_13
- Malkiel, B. G. & Fama, E. F. (1970). Efficient Capital Markets: A review of theory and empirical work. *The Journal of Finance*, 25(2), 383–417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1970.tb00518.x
- Markowitz, H. (1952). Portfolio Selection. *The Journal of Finance*, 7(1), 77–91. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/2975974
- Maxwell, A. L., Jeffrey, S. A. & Lévesque, M. (2011). Business angel early stage decision making. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 26(2), 212–225. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2009.09.002
- Miller, M. H. (1986). Behavioral Rationality in Finance: The Case of Dividends. *The Journal of Business*, 59(4), 451–468. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2352774
- MIT Entrepreneurship Center. (2000). Venture Support Systems Project: Angel Investors (Release 1.1). http://nutsandbolts.mit.edu/resources/angelreport.pdf
- Mitteness, C., Sudek, R. & Cardon, M. S. (2012). Angel investor characteristics that determine whether perceived passion leads to higher evaluations of funding potential. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 27(5), 592–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2011.11.003
- Naseer, M. & Tariq, Dr. Y. B. (2016). The Efficient Market Hypothesis: A Critical Review of the Literature. *The IUP Journal of Financial Risk Management*, 12(4). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2714844

- Neumann, J. von & Morgenstern, O. (1947). *Theory of games and economic behavior* (2nd rev. ed.). Princeton University Press.
- Neumann, J. von & Morgenstern, O. (2007). *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior: 60th Anniversary Commemorative Edition*. Princeton University Press.
- Nickerson, R. S. (1997). Confirmation Bias: A Ubiquitous Phenomenon in Many Guises. *Review* of General Psychology, 2(2), 175–220. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.2.175

Nielsen, N. H. (2017). The Startup Funding Book. Nhn Ventures APS.

- Nisar, S. & Hanif, M. (2011). Testing Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis: Empirical Evidence from South Asia. World Applied Sciences Journal, 17(4). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1962210
- Nobel Prize Committee. (2002). Foundations of Behavioral and Experimental Economics: Daniel Kahneman and Vernon Smith. *Nobel Prize in Economics Documents* 2002-1.
- Norrestad, F. (2021). *Top ESG characteristics considered by investors worldwide 2021*. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1204036/top-esg-risks-and-opportunities-for-investors-worldwide/
- Norsif. (2017). Integrering av ESG-informasjon i selskapsanalyser En undersøkelse blant norske forvaltere. https://www.norsif.org/single-post/rapport-om-esg-integrering-iselskapsanalyser
- OECD. (2020). OECD Business and Finance Outlook 2020: Sustainable and Resilient Finance. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1787/eb61fd29-en
- Oranburg, S. (2015). The Non-Pecuniary Value of Equity Crowdfunding. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2620011
- Osnabrugge, M. V. & Robinson, R. J. (2000). *Angel investing: matching start-up funds with start-up companies*. Jossey-Bass Inc.

- Parhankangas, A. & Hellström, T. (2007). How experience and perceptions shape risky behaviour: Evidence from the venture capital industry. *Venture Capital*, 9(3), 183–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691060701324478
- Park, J., Konana, P., Gu, B., Kumar, A. & Raghunathan, R. (2010). Confirmation Bias, Overconfidence, and Investment Performance: Evidence from Stock Message Boards. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1639470
- Parmar, B. L., Freeman, R. E., Harrison, J. S., Wicks, A. C., Purnell, L. & Colle, S. de. (2010). Stakeholder Theory: The State of the Art. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 1(4), 403– 445. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/19416520.2010.495581
- Paul, S., Whittam, G. & Wyper, J. (2007). Towards a model of the business angel investment process. *Venture Capital*, 9(2), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691060601185425
- Peters, E. M., Burraston, B. & Mertz, C. K. (2004). An Emotion-Based Model of Risk Perception and Stigma Susceptibility: Cognitive Appraisals of Emotion, Affective Reactivity, Worldviews, and Risk Perceptions in the Generation of Technological Stigma. *Risk Analysis*, 24(5), 1349–1367. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0272-4332.2004.00531.x
- Porter, M. E. & Kramer, M. R. (2011). Creating Shared Value: how to reinvent capitalism and unleash a wave of innovation and growth. *Harvard Business Review.*, 5–8. http://ressources.aunege.fr/nuxeo/site/esupversions/c9c186ba-f7d5-4ebe-bd74d375387f45e8/res/res.pdf
- Ritter, J. R. (2003). Behavioral finance. *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, *11*(4), 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0927-538x(03)00048-9
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., III, F. S. C., Lambin, E., Lenton, T. M.,
  Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., Wit, C. A. de, Hughes, T., Leeuw, S. van der, Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., ... Foley, J. (2009).
  Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. *JSTOR*, *14*(2).
  https://www.jstor.org/stable/26268316

Ruhnka, J. C. & Young, J. E. (1987). A venture capital model of the development process for new ventures. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 2(2), 167–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9026(87)90006-1

Sachs, J. (2015). The age of sustainable development. Columbia University Press.

- Samuelson, P. A. (1973). Proof That Properly Discounted Present Values of Assets Vibrate Randomly. *The Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science*, 4(2), 369. https://doi.org/10.2307/3003046
- Sandberg, C. & Flatland, T. O. (2021). Insentiver for miljøvennlige og bærekraftige investeringer – hvilke kriterier har betydning for investorenes investeringsbeslutninger? [Master's thesis, University of Stavanger]. UiS Brage. https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2786802
- Shane, S. (2012). The Importance of Angel Investing in Financing the Growth of Entrepreneurial Ventures. *Quarterly Journal of Finance*, 02(02). https://doi.org/10.1142/s2010139212500097
- Shefrin, H. (2002). *Beyond Greed and Fear: Understanding Behavioral Finance and the Psychology of Investing* (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Sheth, S. (2022, January 5). ESG is coming to venture capital. Here's how startup founders can stay ahead of the curve. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/01/esg-is-coming-to-venture-capital-here-s-how-earlystage-startup-founders-can-stay-ahead-of-the-curve/
- Shifter. (2022, May 19). *Investordatabasen*. Retrieved 2022, May 24 from https://shifter.no/guide/investordatabasen/226358
- Shiller, R. J. & Jain, V. (2003). Investment theory. *CFA Digest*, *33*(4), 42–43. https://doi.org/10.2469/dig.v33.n4.1368
- Shleifer, A. (2000). *Inefficient Markets: An introduction to behavioural finance*. Oxford University Press.

- Siddique, S. P. & Sciulli, N. (2018). Sustainable development of small companies: Investors' perspectives. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(8), 1258–1271. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2073
- Silverman, D. (2011). *Interpreting Qualitative Data*. A Guide to the Principles of Qualitative Research (4th ed.). Sage Publications Ltd.
- Skancke, M., Aven, T., Myklebust, T., Koç, N., Nøstbakken, L., Mohn, K. & Torvik, R. (2018). *Klimarisiko og norsk økonomi*. Departementenes sikkerhets- og serviceorganisasjon - Teknisk redaksjon. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/c5119502a03145278c33b72d9060fbc9/no/pdfs/nou 201820180017000dddpdfs.pdf
- Slaper, T. F. & Hall, T. J. (2011). The Triple Bottom Line: What Is It and How Does It Work? *Indiana Business Review*, 86(1). http://www.ibrc.indiana.edu/ibr/2011/spring/article2.html
- Statistisk sentralbyrå. (2021, May 25). *Etablerere i næringslivet*. SSB. https://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/07359/
- Statman, M. (1995). Behavioral Finance versus Standard Finance. AIMR Conference Proceedings, 1995(7), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.2469/cp.v1995.n7.4
- Statman, M. (1999). Behaviorial Finance: Past Battles and Future Engagements. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 55(6), 18–27. https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v55.n6.2311
- Stern, N. (2008). The Economics of Climate Change (The American Economic Review). Statista. https://www.jstor.org/stable/29729990
- Stobierski, T. (2021, May 25). *What is sustainable investing?* Harvard Business School Online. https://online.hbs.edu/blog/post/sustainable-investing
- Sullivan, M. K. (1991). Entrepreneurs as informal investors: Are there distinguishing characteristics? *Frontiers of Entrepreneurship*. Babson Park, MA: Babson College

- Taler, R. H. (1970). The End of Behavioral Finance. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 2(55), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v55.n6.2310
- Thaler, R. (1985). Mental accounting and consumer choice. *Marketing Science*, 4(3), 199–214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.4.3.199
- Thaler, R. H. (2016). Behavioral Economics: Past, Present, and Future. American Economic Review, 106(7), 1577–1600. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.106.7.1577
- Thaler, R. H. & Johnson, E. J. (1990). Gambling with the House Money and Trying to Break Even: The Effects of Prior Outcomes on Risky Choice. *Management Science*, 36(6), 643–660. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.36.6.643
- Tversky, A. (1972). Elimination by aspects: A theory of choice. *Psychological Review*, 79(4), 281–299. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0032955
- Tversky, A. & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Science, 185(4157), 1124–1131. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.185.4157.1124
- Tyebjee, T. T. & Bruno, A. V. (1984). A Model of Venture Capitalist Investment Activity. Management Science, 30(9), 1051–1066. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.30.9.1051
- USSIF. (2014). *Report on US Sustainable, Responsible and Impact Investing Trends 2014*. https://www.ussif.org/Files/Publications/SIF\_Trends\_14.F.ES.pdf
- Waagsnes, M. & Haugereid, J. (2021). Crossing the Valley of death: For tech startups in Norway. Not published. School of Business and Law, University of Agder
- Wensley, P. (2021, May 5). Making a positive impact: how tech is helping us restore planet earth. Ericsson. https://www.ericsson.com/en/blog/2021/5/technology-for-good-how-tech-ishelping-us-restore-planet-earth

- Wilson, K. E. & Silva, F. (2013). Policies for Seed and Early Stage Finance: Findings from the 2012 OECD Financing Questionnaire. OECD Science, Technology and Industry Policy Papers, 9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1787/5k3xqsf00j33-en
- Wiltbank, R., Read, S., Dew, N. & Sarasvathy, S. D. (2009). Prediction and control under uncertainty: Outcomes in angel investing. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 24(2), 116–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2007.11.004
- World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future (pp. 6–13). http://www.askforce.org/web/Sustainability/Brundtland-Our-Common-Future-1987-2008.pdf
- Yazdipour, R. & Howard, J. A. (2010). *Behavioral Finance: Application and Pedagogy in Business Education and Training*. Behavioral finance: Investors, corporations, and markets. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Zacharakis, A. L. & Meyer, G. D. (1998). A lack of insight: do venture capitalists really understand their own decision process? *Journal of Business Venturing*, *13*(1), 57–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0883-9026(97)00004-9
- Zhou, M. (2022, May 19). ESG, SRI, and Impact Investing: What's the Difference? Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/financial-advisor/esg-sri-impact-investing-explainingdifference-clients/#citation-1

# 8. Appendix

# 8.1 Interview Guide

# Introduction:

Welcome, and thank you for taking the time to participate in this interview. We greatly appreciate that you want to contribute your insight into the topic.

We are master's students at the University of Agder, and the interview will be part of the data basis for our master's thesis in SHIFT entrepreneurship. The theme of the thesis is to examine the investment process of angel investors and which factors are the most crucial to making an investment.

The interview will be recorded electronically and then transcribed anonymously. After transcription, the audio files will be deleted. The written document will be kept in accordance with current regulations and then deleted upon completion of the master's at the end of June 2022.

We expect the interview to take about 30 minutes. There is no time for a break. Do you have any questions before we start?

## Interview questions:

The investment process

- How many investments have you taken part in, and how long have you been an angel investor?
- Which industries are you most interested in when investing?
- What characterizes a seed round for you?
- What steps does your investment process consist of?
- What does a screening process look like for you?

- What are the three most important criteria you are looking for in a potential investment?
- What other things are you looking for?
- Are there aspects of the decision-making process that are downgraded?

## Herd mentality

- Do you involve others in the decision-making process?
  - If so, when in the process?
  - If so, how in the process?
  - If not, why not?
- Do you mostly invest individually or with a network?
  - o If you invest with a network; does your network influence you before you invest?
    - How are you affected by your network?
    - Do you see it as positive or negative that you are affected, and why?
  - o If you invest individually, Why invest alone and not with others?
- Have you ever chosen to make an investment on the basis that another investor or investors have made the same investment before you?
  - If so, what was it that influenced you to make the investment?

## Confirmation Bias

- You are considering an investment case you have just been presented with; Are there any differences in how you look for information in the different phases of the investment process?
- What is most important if you had to choose? Looking for more underlying information that is not presented in the case (to test for weaknesses, or looking for information that confirms the case (the information) you have been presented with?
- Do you use other methods of information retrieval to confirm/deny the case?
- Do you ever make investments with an emphasis on the information you are presented with matching your personal interests and values?

• Has there been any information following these investments which would have changed your decision if you were to reconsider?

Framing Cognitive Bias

- How do you prefer to have an investor case presented?
- How important is it to you that the presentation is visually pretty?
- A pitch deck often has a combination of text and numbers; in what way do you prefer to read the information?
- How long does it take before you get hooked or lose interest in the investor case?
- What does it take for you to have a new meeting with the founders?
- How often is the gut feeling a deciding factor in whether you choose to make an investment?
  - In what situations can the gut feeling play a bigger role?

Stakeholders and sustainable investments

- Besides the financial potential of an investor case, what other factors do you look for when considering investing?
- Which of the startup's stakeholders do you take into account when considering an investment case?
- Do you think about how your investments affect society?
- In your opinion, what is the angel investor's most important responsibility to society?

# Environmental variables

- Have you chosen not to invest in companies because you thought they were not sustainable enough?
  - If so, why not?
  - What do you put in "not sustainable enough"?
- What does the term sustainable investment mean to you?

- Have you experienced any change in the focus on sustainable investments since you started as an investor?
- Do you experience challenges related to using sustainability as an assessment criterion?
- What environmental aspects do you consider when assessing an investor case?

Angel investors' relation to ESG

- Do you use any kind of framework or strategy in your assessment process?
  - If so, what frameworks/strategies do you use?
- Do you miss any frameworks or strategies that could have been very useful in the assessment process?
  - o If so, which areas do you miss frameworks/strategies in?
- Do you have any knowledge of ESG investing?
- Have you implemented ESG investing into your investment strategy?
  - If so, why?
  - If not, why not?

## In conclusion:

Then we have no more questions. Is there anything else you want to say, something we should know, or you want to ask before we finish?

Is it okay if we send you an email afterward with a follow-up question if necessary?

Thank you for showing up for the interview and sharing your experiences. It means a lot to us and will be a good contribution to the task. Have a nice day!